This article was downloaded by: On: *25 January 2011* Access details: *Access Details: Free Access* Publisher *Taylor & Francis* Informa Ltd Registered in England and Wales Registered Number: 1072954 Registered office: Mortimer House, 37-41 Mortimer Street, London W1T 3JH, UK



Journal of Sulfur Chemistry

Publication details, including instructions for authors and subscription information: http://www.informaworld.com/smpp/title~content=t713926081

THERMAL TRANSFORMATIONS OF ORGANIC COMPOUNDS OF TETRA- AND HEXAVALENT SULFUR

Mikhail Voronkov^a; Eleonora Deryagina^a

^a A.E. Favorsky Irkutsk Institute of Organic Chemistry, Siberian Division Russian Academy of Sciences, Irkutsk

To cite this Article Voronkov, Mikhail and Deryagina, Eleonora(2002) 'THERMAL TRANSFORMATIONS OF ORGANIC COMPOUNDS OF TETRA- AND HEXAVALENT SULFUR', Journal of Sulfur Chemistry, 23: 3, 321 – 387 **To link to this Article: DOI:** 10.1080/01961770208050162

URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01961770208050162

PLEASE SCROLL DOWN FOR ARTICLE

Full terms and conditions of use: http://www.informaworld.com/terms-and-conditions-of-access.pdf

This article may be used for research, teaching and private study purposes. Any substantial or systematic reproduction, re-distribution, re-selling, loan or sub-licensing, systematic supply or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden.

The publisher does not give any warranty express or implied or make any representation that the contents will be complete or accurate or up to date. The accuracy of any instructions, formulae and drug doses should be independently verified with primary sources. The publisher shall not be liable for any loss, actions, claims, proceedings, demand or costs or damages whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with or arising out of the use of this material.



THERMAL TRANSFORMATIONS OF ORGANIC COMPOUNDS OF TETRA- AND HEXAVALENT SULFUR

MIKHAIL VORONKOV* and ELEONORA DERYAGINA

A.E. Favorsky Irkutsk Institute of Organic Chemistry, Siberian Division Russian Academy of Sciences, 1 Favorsky, Irkutsk, 664033

(Received 4 May 2001; accepted 20 February 2002)

The literature on the thermal reactions of tetra- and hexavalent sulfur compounds are summarized and analyzed. The bibliography contains 305 references for the period 1950–2000.

Keywords: Thermal transformations, pyrolysis; Sulfoxides, sulfones; Sulfinic and sulfonic acids and their esters; Cyclic hydrocarbons; Heterocycles; Dienes; Acetylene compounds

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	. 322
2.	Sulfoxides	. 322
	2.1. Dialkyl Sulfoxides	. 322
	2.2. Alkylvinyl Sulfoxides	. 325
	2.3. Divinyl Sulfoxide	. 326
	2.4. Alkyl Aryl Sulfoxides	. 327
	2.5. Diaryl Sulfoxides	. 332
	2.6. Other Sulfoxides	. 332
	2.7. Cyclic Sulfoxides	. 335
	2.7.1. Thiirane-Oxides	. 335
	2.7.2. Thietane-, Thiolane-, Oxathiolane- and other S-oxides	. 337
	2.7.3. Di- and Trithiacyclanes Oxides	. 340
3.	Sulfones	. 342
	3.1. Alkyl Sulfones	. 342
	3.2. Aryl Sulfones	. 344
	3.3. Sulfonylazides and Organylazo Sulfones	. 345
	3.4. Sulfonylamines, Sulfonamides, -diimides and -imines	. 347
	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

^{*}Corresponding author. Fax: (395)239-6046

3.5. Cyclic sulfones	349
3.5.1. Three-membered Heterocycles	349
3.5.2. Four-membered Heterocycles	350
3.5.3. Five-membered Heterocycles	352
3.5.4. Six-membered Heterocycles	370
3.5.5. Seven-membered Heterocycles	372
3.5.6. Macrocyclic Sulfide Dioxides	372
Sulfinic Acids and Their Esters	374
Sulfonic Acids and Their Esters	376
Conclusion	381
References	382
	 3.5. Cyclic sulfones 3.5.1. Three-membered Heterocycles 3.5.2. Four-membered Heterocycles 3.5.3. Five-membered Heterocycles 3.5.4. Six-membered Heterocycles 3.5.5. Seven-membered Heterocycles 3.5.6. Macrocyclic Sulfide Dioxides Sulfinic Acids and Their Esters Sulfonic Acids and Their Esters Conclusion References

1. INTRODUCTION

Thermal transformations of organic compounds of bivalent sulfur have been under investigation since the nineteenth century. Thermolysis of these compounds can lead to new classes of organic compounds. The thermolysis of dialkyl sulfoxides is accompanied by sulfur dioxide elimination and the formation of olefines. Thermolysis of some dialkyl sulfoxides leads to the extrusion of sulfenic acid and the formation of heterocyclic compounds. Vinyl sulfoxides eliminate vinylsulfenic acid to give vinylalkyl ethers. The importance of the pyrolysis of sulfones is in the possibility of obtaining difficult to obtain unsaturated hydrocarbons, including functionally substituted ones. The pyrolysis of cyclic sulfones leads to cyclic hydrocarbons, heterocycles, dienes and acetylene compounds. The simplest method for the synthesis of macrocyclic hydrocarbons is based on a thermal elimination of SO_2 from cyclic mono-, *bis*- and *tris*-sulfones. The data on the thermolysis of sulfinic and sulfonic acids and their ethers are given. The thermolysis of these compounds is of great preparative interest.

2. SULFOXIDES

2.1. Dialkyl Sulfoxides

Thermal instability of dialkyl sulfoxides has been found as early as 1875 [1]. Dialkyl sulfoxides are usually decomposed under heating at 100°C with elimination of the corresponding olefin [2]. Secondary alkyl groups are cleaved easier than primary ones. Mixed *n*-alkyl, *sec*-alkyl sulfoxides are decomposed more rapidly than di(*n*-alkyl) sulfoxides [3]. The rate of the thermal decomposition reaction of sulfoxides is decreased with increasing steric hindrance of the β -carbon atom of the alkyl chain [4].

Thermal decomposition of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at 180° C under pressure in the presence of air or oxygen leads to the formation of dimethyl sulfide (42%), *bis*(methylthio)methane (31%) and dimethyl disulfide (8%). Under analogous conditions, but in the presence of nitrogen, DMSO is not decomposed. Addition of DMSO to a peroxide medium results in its decomposition [5].

The thermolysis of DMSO in vacuum (10–400 mm) at 297–340°C leads to the formation of methane, ethylene and sulfur dioxide [6]. A first-order reaction with respect to each product has been found $E_{act.} = 48 \text{ Kcal/mol}$, $A = 3.7 \times 10^{14} \text{ s}^{-1}$. The formation of

dimethyl sulfide, dimethyl disulfide and sulfur dioxide is consistent with the following mechanistic scheme:

 $\begin{array}{rcl} CH_{3}SOCH_{3} &\longrightarrow & CH_{3}\dot{S}O &+ & \dot{C}H_{3} \\ CH_{3}SOCH_{3} &+ & \dot{C}H_{3} &\longrightarrow & CH_{4} + & CH_{3}SO\dot{C}H_{2} \\ CH_{3}SOCH_{3} &+ & CH_{3}\dot{S}O &\longrightarrow & CH_{3}SCH_{3} &+ & \dot{C}H_{3} + & SO_{2} \\ CH_{3}SO\dot{C}H_{2} &\longrightarrow & \dot{C}H_{3} + & H_{2}C=S=O & \stackrel{H_{2}C=S=O}{\longrightarrow} & CH_{2}=CH_{2} + & SO_{2} + & S \\ CH_{3}SO\dot{C}H_{2} &\longrightarrow & CH_{3}\dot{S} + & \dot{C}H_{3} \\ CH_{3}SCH_{3} &\longrightarrow & CH_{3}\dot{S} + & \dot{C}H_{3} \\ CH_{3}\dot{S} + & CH_{3}\dot{S} &\longrightarrow & CH_{3}SSCH_{3} \\ CH_{3}SOCH_{3} + & S &\longrightarrow & CH_{3}SCH_{3} + & SO \\ SO + & SO &\longrightarrow & SO_{2} + & S \end{array}$

SCHEME 1

The formation of sulfine was detected by photoelectronic spectroscopy during the flash vacuum pyrolysis (FVP) of DMSO [7]. Sulfine is also generated during the FVP of methyl (iodomethyl) sulfoxide at 350°C [7].

$$\begin{array}{cccc} CH_3SOCH_2I & \longrightarrow & CH_3SOCH_2 + I \\ CH_3SOCH_2 & \longrightarrow & H_2C=S=O + CH_3 \\ CH_3SOCH_2I + CH_3 & \longrightarrow & CH_3SOCH_2 + CH_3I \end{array}$$

SCHEME 2

The FVP of DMSO (270–340°C) in the presence of oxygen involves the formation of methane, ethane, ethylene and dimethyl sulfide. Under higher concentrations of oxygen the yield of ethane and dimethyl sulfide is significantly increased [8]. The free radical mechanism of DMSO decomposition during initiation by oxygen is as follows [5].

$$\begin{array}{c} \text{CH}_{3}\text{SOCH}_{3} + \text{O}_{2} & \longrightarrow \text{CH}_{3}\overset{\text{SOCH}_{3}}{\to} + \overset{\text{O}}{\text{OH}}_{3}^{+} \\ \text{CH}_{3}\overset{\text{SOCH}_{3}}{\to} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SOCH}_{3} & \longrightarrow \text{CH}_{3}\overset{\text{S}}{\text{S}}^{+}\text{CH}_{3} & + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SOCH}_{2} \\ \text{CH}_{3}\overset{\text{T}}{\text{S}}^{+}\text{CH}_{3} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SOCH}_{3} & \longrightarrow \text{CH}_{3}\overset{\text{T}}{\text{SOCH}}_{3} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SOH} \\ \text{OH} & & & \text{CH}_{3}\text{SO}_{2}\text{H} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SH} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SO}_{3}\text{H} \\ \text{CH}_{2}\text{O} + \overset{\text{T}}{\text{H}} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SCH}_{3} & \longrightarrow \text{CH}_{3}\text{SH} + \text{CH}_{2}\text{O} + \overset{\text{T}}{\text{H}} \\ \text{OH} & & \overset{\text{T}}{\text{H}} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{CH}_{3}\overset{\text{T}}{\text{S}}^{+}\text{CH}_{3} & \longrightarrow \text{CH}_{3}\text{SH} + \text{CH}_{2}\text{O} \\ \text{OH} & & \overset{\text{T}}{\text{H}} \\ \end{array} \right) \\ \text{CH}_{3}\overset{\text{T}}{\text{S}}^{+}\text{CH}_{3} & \longrightarrow \text{CH}_{3}\text{SCH}_{2}\text{OH} & \longrightarrow \text{CH}_{3}\text{SH} + \text{CH}_{2}\text{O} \\ \text{CH}_{3}\text{SH} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SH} + \text{CH}_{2}\text{O} & \longrightarrow \text{CH}_{3}\text{SCH}_{2}\text{SCH}_{3} + \text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ \\ \text{CH}_{3}\text{SH} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SH} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SOCH}_{3} & \longrightarrow \text{CH}_{3}\text{SSCH}_{3} + \text{CH}_{3}\text{SCH}_{3} + \text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ \end{array} \right)$$

Methyl radicals have been found by multi-photon ionization in a gas phase during the pyrolysis of DMSO. Ionic products were registered by mass spectrometry [9].

The following compounds are the products of decomposition of di(n-butyl) sulfoxide at 180°C in a sealed ampoule (absence of oxygen): 1-butene (50%), butyraldehyde (36%), di(n-butyl) sulfide (12%), *n*-butyl-isobutyl sulfide (11%), di(n-butyl) disulfide (37%) and water (72%). The reaction is of first order. In a flowing system the rate of di(n-butyl) sulfoxide is not changed, but the yield of 1-butene is increased [10].

The elimination of olefins from dialkyl sulfoxide is accompanied by simultaneous formation of sulfenic acids. These are observed during the flash vacuum pyrolysis of asymmetric dialkyl sulfoxides at 175–620°C [3,11,12].

RSOC(CH₃)₃ \longrightarrow (CH₃)₂C=CH₂ + RSOH RSOH + RSOH \longrightarrow RSOSR + H₂O RSOSR \longrightarrow RSSR + RSO₂SR R = C(CH₃)₂, CH₃, C₆H₅, 2,6-(CH₃)₂C₆H₃ SCHEME 4

Sulfenic acids have been identified at -196° C and obtained as styrenesulfinates. The disproportionation of the latter results in thiosulfonates and disulfides [11,13–16]. When $R = CH_3$ thermal decomposition of methanesulfenic acid is accompanied by the formation of a polymer (probably polythioformaldehyde).

 $CH_3SOH \longrightarrow H_2C=S + H_2O$

SCHEME 5

Thermal decomposition of dialkyl sulfoxides at 100°C in toluene solution leads to *cis*-elimination of sulfenic acid [17]. *Tert*-butylsulfenic acid is stable in some electrondonor solvents. It is explained by the possibility of six-membered dimer formation due to $S \cdots H \cdots O$ bonds and association with the solvent [17].

> $(Me_3C)_2SO \longrightarrow Me_3CSOH + Me_2C=CH_2$ $Me_3CSS(O)CMe_3$

SCHEME 6

The pyrolysis of 1-ethyl-1-ethylsulfinylcycloalkanes proceeds non-selectively and leads to a mixture of exo- and endo-olefins. The latter were obtained in greater amount [18]. Isomeric olefins are probably formed through the various cyclic intermediate compounds.



Total yield of olefins 79% (n=4), 85% (n=5), 80% (n=6).

The pyrolysis of methylsulfinyl- γ -methylthiobutyric acids involves the formation of the corresponding γ -methylthio- γ -butyrolactones [19].



SCHEME 8

The reaction involves formation of an intermediate with a hydrogen bond between the sulfinyl and carboxyl groups.

Methyl[methylthio(2-pyridyl)methyl] sulfoxide upon heating up to 150–240°C gives pyridine-2-carbaldehydes [20].



2.2. Alkylvinyl Sulfoxides

The pyrolysis of β -(alkoxy)ethyl vinyl sulfoxides under heating up to 280–290°C results in alkyl vinyl ethers in 65–71% yield. Concurrently vinylsulfenic acid is eliminated. The reaction proceeds via a cyclic intermediate [21,22].



Similarly, vinylsulfenic acid is eliminated from β -(organylthio)ethyl vinyl sulfoxides at 220–320°C to give alkyl vinyl sulfides [23].



R = Me, Et, i-Pr, t-Bu, Ph

SCHEME 11

[(β -Triorganylsilylalkylthio)ethyl] vinyl sulfoxides are transformed into vinyl sulfides under heating up to 170–180°C [24].



R = Me, Et, MeO; n = 1-3

SCHEME 12

2.3. Divinyl Sulfoxide

Gas-phase thermolysis (400°C) of divinyl sulfoxide results in the formation of thiophene in 60% yield. The mechanism of the reaction involves the decomposition of divinyl sulfoxide into acetylene and vinyl sulfenic acid. The latter generates $CH_2 = CHS^*$ and HO^{*} radicals. Then vinylthiyl radicals reacted with acetylene to give thiophene [25].



SCHEME 13

2.4. Alkyl Aryl Sulfoxides

The thermolysis of alkyl aryl sulfoxides involves the elimination of arylsulfenic acids and the formation of alkenes. The formation of propene during thermal destruction of aryl (*n*-propyl) sulfoxides in a solution of diphenyl ether is of first order and has low values of both activation energy and activation enthalpy (25-28 kcal/mol) and $-11.5-16 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{unit}^{-1}$, respectively) [17,26]. The presence of chlorine atoms as well as a nitro group in the aromatic ring accelerates the reaction and methyl- and methoxy group inhibits it. The constant of the reaction rate is correlated with the constants of Hammet derivatives in the aromatic ring. These data are indicative of high order of the intermediate product (may be cyclic one) in which positive charge is carried to propyl group and negative charge is carried to sulfur-containing fragment:



SCHEME 14

A kinetic isotopic effect $k_H/k_D = 3.168$ (130°C), $E_H - E_D = 1.15$ Kcal/mol, $A_H/A_D = 0.76$ has been found during the thermolysis of deuterated heptyl phenyl sulfoxide in diglyme solution (190–230°C) [17].

An α -acyl-derivative in the alkyl chain also accelerates the pyrolysis of aryl ethyl sulfoxides at 60–120°C. The α -ethoxycarbonyl group [27] shows the best accelerating effect. A β -phenyl group and a β -cyano group accelerate the pyrolysis of aryl ethyl sulfoxides in anhydrous organic solvents at 100–140°C by 8 and 200 times, respectively [28].

The following order of reactivity is observed during of the alkylative-elimination of 2-phenylsulfinylpropionate. In each case, abstraction of a methylene or methine hydrogen is contrast to that a methyl hydrogen [29].



The mixture of regioisomeric olefins is usually formed from sulfoxides having a non-symmetric structure.



SCHEME 16

If a trimethylsilyl group is added to the β -carbon atom of such sulfoxides, the regioselectivity of the elimination of sulfenic acid is sharply increased [30].

Thermal elimination of benzenesulfenic acid from diastereomeric 1,2-diphenyl 1-propyl phenyl sulfoxides proceeds stereospecifically. The reaction mechanism proposed involves the formation of a cyclic intermediate [31].

SCHEME 17

At temperatures above 120° C the stereospecificity of the reaction is broken resulting in both *cis*- and *trans*-elimination of sulfenic acid. In this case the reaction begins probably with homolytic cleavage of the C–S bond with the formation of radical pair. The formation of cyclic intermediate state follows the isomerization of a radical pair.

Thermal destruction of benzhydryl *para*-tolyl sulfoxide at 100–130°C involves the formation of *para*-toluenesulfinyl and diphenylmethyl radicals due to the dissociation of the C–S bond. Thiosulfonate and tetraphenylethane are formed from the intermediate products [32].

$$CH_{3}C_{6}H_{4}SOCHPh_{2} \longrightarrow CH_{3}C_{6}H_{4}SO \cdot CHPh_{2}$$

$$CH_{3}C_{6}H_{4}SSO_{2}C_{6}H_{4}CH_{3} \longleftarrow CH_{3}C_{6}H_{4}SO \cdot CHPh_{2} \longrightarrow Ph_{2}CH_{2}CH_{2}Ph_{2}$$

$$SCHEME 18$$

A series of aryl (β -organylethyl) sulfoxides are pyrolyzed in vacuum at 180°C with concurrent distillation of the corresponding ethylene derivatives [33].

 $XC_6H_4S(O)CH_2CH_2R \longrightarrow XC_6H_4SOH + RCH=CH_2$

X = H, Cl

 $R = (CH_3)_2C(NO_2)$, (EtOOC)₂C(Et), 1-carboethoxy-2-oxo-cyclopentenyl, Me₂CHC(COOEt)CN, C₆H₅S, C₆H₅CH₂O, pyperidyl

SCHEME 19

Gas-phase pyrolysis (350° C) of cyclooctyl phenyl sulfoxide leads to the formation of *cis*-cyclooctene (plus a small amount of the *trans*-isomer – 0.2%) [34]. The pyrolysis of cyclohexenylmethyl phenyl sulfoxides at the boiling toluene is used as a method for the preparation of the corresponding dienes in high yield (80-90%) [35].



 $R = -CHO, -CH_2OH, -CH_2OCOC_6H_5$

SCHEME 20

Liquid-phase pyrolysis of α -chloroalkyl phenyl sulfoxides in xylene at 160°C leads to the formation of 1-chloroalkenes [36].

RCH₂CH₂CISPh \longrightarrow RCH=CHCl + PhSOH O R = C₆H₅, 2-Cl, 5-MeC₆H₃, Me(CH₂)₁₄, Me(CH₂)₁₀, Me(CH₂)₇, Me(CH₂)₅, Me(CH₂)₄

SCHEME 21

Under analogous conditions the corresponding 1,1-dichloroalkenes are formed from α,α -dichloromethyl phenyl sulfoxides, and dichloromethylketones are formed from α,α -dichloro-hydroxyalkyl- β -alkyl phenyl sulfoxides [37].





Under similar conditions α -fluoroalkyl phenyl sulfoxides are transformed into vinylfluorides and α -fluoro- β -hydroxy-alkyl phenyl sulfoxides into α -fluoro-methyl-ketones [38].

 $\begin{array}{c} CH_2CH_2FSPh \longrightarrow RCH=CHF + PhSOH \\ O & 73-95\% \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} RCHCFSPh \longrightarrow RCCH_2F \\ OH & 0 \\ O & -30\% \\ SCHEME 23 \end{array}$

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of benzyl phenyl sulfoxide in vacuum at 500°C proceeds according to a radical mechanism due to the cleavage of the SO–C bond and involves the formation of 1,2-diphenylethane and phenylthiosulfinate [39].



The thermolysis of β -hydroxy- α -bromoalkyl phenyl sulfoxides in boiling toluene or diglyme leads to the formation of the corresponding α -bromomethylketones [40].



Boiling a xylene solution of butyl 2-(phenylsulfinyl)-*E*-deceonate results in a mixture of isomeric 2,4-dienoates [E, E/Z, E = 4:1] [41].



SCHEME 26

 α -Phenylsulfinyl lactones under heating up to 115°C are pyrolyzed to give the corresponding α -methylenebutyrolactones [42].





 (\pm) Acorenone B has been prepared analogously but at 70°C in CCl₄ [43].



SCHEME 28

The thermolysis of α -sulfinyl ketones or ethers involves the formation of α , β -unsaturated systems [44].



SCHEME 29

The pyrolysis of β -hydroxyalkyl phenyl sulfoxides at 130–180°C and under low pressure leads to the formation of allenic alcohols or unsaturated ketones [45]. Allenic alcohols are formed only in boiling xylene.

$$R^{1}R^{2}C=CH[S(O)Ph]CHR^{3}(OH) \longrightarrow R^{1}R^{2}C=CH=CHR^{3}(OH)$$

 $PhSOH$
 $R^{1}R^{2}CHCOCH_{2}R^{3}$

SCHEME 30

The thermolysis of benzoyloxymethyl phenyl sulfoxide in boiling mesitylene involves the elimination of both benzoic acid and formaldehyde. Due to this fact phenylthiyl radical is formed which can dimerize or substitute the methyl group in mesitylene [46].

PhSCH₂OCOPh
$$\xrightarrow{Me_3C_6H_3}$$
 (C₆H₅)₂S₂ + 3,5-Me₂C₆H₃SC₆H₅ +
 $\stackrel{II}{O}$ + CH₂O + C₆H₅COOH
SCHEME 31

This reaction involves the intermolecular attack of the oxygen atom of the sulfinyl group onto the CO group. This results in the formation of a cyclic di-polar ion intermediate that can eliminate formaldehyde. Support for this mechanism was obtained by having the initial sulfoxide SO group, labeled with ¹⁸O. In this case the ¹⁸O label was completely incorporated into the CO_2 group of benzoic acid.





Cyclohexanone phenyl sulfoxides are decomposed analogously but under heating in dioxane up to 60–130°C. Diphenyl disulfide and 2-cyclohexanone are formed from 2-oxocyclohexyl phenyl sulfoxide. Diphenyl disulfide as well as 6-methyl-2-cyclohexan none are formed from 2-oxo-3-methylcyclohexyl phenyl sulfoxides [47].

 α -Azidobenzyl phenyl sulfoxide is decomposed at 70°C to give N-benzylidenebenzenesulfinamide, benzonitrile, benzaldehyde, diphenyl disulfide and diphenylthiosulfinate [48]. The reaction probably proceeds through the intermediate formation of radical pairs.



2.5. Diaryl Sulfoxides

Phenylthiosulfinate (40% yield) is the main product of impulse pyrolysis of diphenyl sulfoxide under vacuum at 700°C. The other products of the pyrolysis are diphenyl disulfide (12%), diphenyl (6%), diphenyl sulfide (12%) and phenol (traces) [39].

2.6. Other Sulfoxides

The stable 2-oxoazetidine-4-sulfenic acid (79% yield) has been obtained by heating of 2-oxoazetidine-4-alkyl sulfoxides in benzene up to 60° C. The product is stable over 6 months at 0° C or in boiling benzene for 24 h, but the acid decomposed in boiling xylene [49].



SCHEME 34

Thiopropenal-S-oxide is decomposed at room temperature after 1 h to give propanal and sulfur. The elimination of the latter is via the intermediate formation of a oxathiiranic intermediate [50].

CH₃CH₂CH=S=O
$$\longrightarrow$$
 CH₃CH₂CH $\xrightarrow{-S}$ CH₃CH₂CHO
SCHEME 35

During the heating of S-oxides of carbonic acids thioamides sulfur atom is substituted for amide group, obviously, also through the formation of a oxathiiranic intermediate [51].



SCHEME 36

Gas-phase flash vacuum pyrolysis of 1,1,3,3-tetramethyl-2-thiocarbonylcyclohexane-S-oxide involves the formation of the corresponding ketene, thioketene, ketone and thioketone. The ratio of the products depends upon the reaction temperature. The elimination of sulfur atom, CO or CS is followed by the electrocyclic opening of the oxathiiranic ring at 150° C [52,53].



SCHEME 37

The extrusion of an oxygen atom at 610° C involves the formation of thioketene. The cleavage of the SO group leads to the formation of a carbene [52,53].



SCHEME 38

Thiobenzophenone-S-oxide is decomposed in diphenylamine solution at 130° C to give benzophenone, thiobenzophenone, elemental sulfur and sulfur dioxide. The decomposition proceeds by two competing routes of first and second order. Carbenes are not formed under the reaction conditions. Probably, thermally labile 3,3-diphenyoxythiirane is the intermediate reaction product, which is monomerically decomposed into benzophenone and sulfur. The bimolecular reaction involves the formation of a dimer which is decomposed further [54].

$$(C_{6}H_{5})_{2}C = S \xrightarrow{\bar{O}} (C_{6}H_{5})_{2}CSO + S_{0} \xrightarrow{\bar{O}} (C_{6}H_{5})_{2}C = O + S_{90-95\%} \xrightarrow{\bar{O}} 95\%$$

$$(C_{6}H_{5})_{2}C = S \xrightarrow{\bar{O}} (C_{6}H_{5})_{2}CSO]_{2} \longrightarrow 2 (C_{6}H_{5})_{2}C = S + O_{2} \xrightarrow{\bar{O}} 4-10\% \xrightarrow{\bar{O}} (C_{6}H_{5})_{2}C = O + SO_{2} \xrightarrow{\bar{O}} (C_{6}H_{5})_{2}C = O + SO_{2} \xrightarrow{\bar{O}} SCHEME 39$$

The rate of thiobenzophenon-S-oxide decomposition is sharply increased in the presence of oxygen. The basic products of the reaction are benzophenone (85% yield) and SO₂ (80%). The pyrolysis of thiobenzophenone-S-oxide in the gas phase at 230°C involves cleavage of the C-S bond and the formation of diphenylcarbene.

The heating of N-alkoxycarbonyl-substituted sulfoximides up to $150-210^{\circ}$ C leads to the formation of alkoxycarbonylisocyanates [55]. The intermediate reaction products are probably (ROOCN =)₂ and ROCN.

ROCON=S=0
$$\longrightarrow$$
 RCOOC=N=O + S
R = Et, Pr, Bu

SCHEME 40

Sulfinylnitrates are easily rearranged into thiosulfonates in solutions of alcohol or CCl_4 at room temperature [56].

ArSONO₂
$$\longrightarrow$$
 ArSO + NO₂
2 ArSO \longrightarrow [ArCOOSAr] \longrightarrow ArSO₂SAr
SCHEME 41

The thermolysis of N-phenyl-N'-sulfinylhydrazine in solution of halobenzenes leads to the formation of a mixture of isomeric diphenyls as well as benzene (the main products). The following products are formed in a very low yield: diphenyl sulfide, diphenyl disulfide, diphenyl thiosulfone, sulfur and sulfur dioxide [48].



2.7. Cyclic Sulfoxides

2.7.1. Thiirane-Oxides

Ethylene episulfoxide (thiirane-oxide) is decomposed in vacuum (0.2 mm) at 500°C to give ethylene and SO₂ [57–59].



SCHEME 43

The reaction mechanism involves the biradical \bullet CH₂-CH₂ \bullet and SO. Ethylene and SO are in basic electronic states:

$$(CH_2)_2 SO(`A`) + M \rightarrow CH_2 = CH_2(`Ag) + SO(^3\Sigma^-) + M$$
$$(CH_2)_2 SO(`A`) \rightarrow CH_2 = CH_2(`Ag) + SO(^1\Delta^1\Sigma^+)$$
$$SO(^1\Delta^1\Sigma^+) + X \rightarrow SO(^3\Sigma^-) + X$$

The basic reaction of thermolysis of ethylene episulfoxides involves the decomposition on the hot sides of the reaction tube (the first reaction). Sulfur oxide is unstable and is decomposed according to the following schemes:

$$SO + SO \longrightarrow SO_2 + S$$

 $SO + S \longrightarrow S_2O$

SCHEME 44

The thermolysis of thiirane oxide in a solution of 1,2-dichloroethane containing *trans-trans*-2,4-hexadiene at 115°C results in *trans,trans*- and *cis,trans*-2,5-dimethyl-3-thiolene-S-oxides in a ratio of 88.2:11.8. In toluene the ratio is 89.5:10.5 [60].



SCHEME 45

The pyrolysis of *trans*-2,3-dideuterothiirane-1-oxide at 350°C leads to the formation of the mixture of *cis*- and *trans*-CHD=CHD in a 10:90 ratio. Under the same conditions the pyrolysis of *cis*-2,3-dideuterothiirane-*syn*- and *anti*-1-oxides results in the mixture of *cis*- and *trans*-CHD=CHD, but in a ratio of 95:5 [61]. The authors suppose that the addition of SO (${}^{3}\Sigma^{-}$) to the diene is followed by diene isomerization, thereafter the reaction proceeds stereoselectively.

At $85-340^{\circ}$ C *cis*-2-butane episulfoxide is transformed into *cis*-2-butene. Under analogous conditions the pyrolysis of *trans*-2-butane episulfoxide leads to a mixture of *cis*- and *trans*-2-butene (in almost equal ratio), and a two-stage reaction mechanism has been proposed. It involves the formation of an ion pair in the first stage (the cleavage of the C-S bond) followed by cleavage of the SO group [62,63]. The energy of activation for elimination of SO from the *cis* intermediate is comparable to that for bond rotation.



SCHEME 46

Cis- and trans-1,2-diphenylthiirane-S-oxide is pyrolyzed to give sulfur and SO_2 , and is transformed into stilbene. That trans-isomer gives trans-stilbene but cis-stilbene episulfoxide is transformed into a mixture of cis- and trans-stilbene [64]. It is suggested that a biradical intermediate is formed, which is isomerized into the more stable conformation before SO elimination.

The pyrolysis of a mixture of isomeric dibenzoylstilbene episulfoxides in vacuum at $200-210^{\circ}$ C involves the formation of benzyl (51%), monothiobenzyl (11%), *cis*-dibenzoylstilbene (3%) and traces of *trans*-dibenzoylstilbene. The reaction proceeds via the formation of an intermediate thioxetane [65].



SCHEME 47

The pyrolysis of diarylsubstituted stilbene episulfoxides always leads to 1,2-oxetanes [63]. 2,3-Diphenylstilbene episulfoxide is stable at 130° C for 1 h and then is partly decomposed [66].

2.7.2. Thietane-, Thiolane-, Oxathiolane- and other S-oxides

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of thietane-S-oxides (600°C) results in sulfine and ethylene [7].



SCHEME 48

The cyclic sulfenate, 1,2-oxathiolane, is an intermediate product of flash vacuum pyrolysis (510–1130°C) of thiolane-S-oxide and 1,2-oxathiolane-S-oxide, leading to the formation of acrolein and allyl alcohol [67].



SCHEME 49

The thermolysis of a conjugated six-membered cyclic sulfoxide containing a sulfine group in the neighboring ring involves the formation of a keto-thione followed by formation of an α,β -unsaturated sulfine [68].



SCHEME 50

3,5-Disubstituted 4-phenyl-1-benzothiepine-1-oxides in boiling chloroform are transformed into 1,3-disubstituted 2-phenylnaphthalenes [69].



R = OAc, OMe, OMe, OAc R' = OMe, OMe, OAc, OAc

SCHEME 51

The heating of the bicyclic sulfoxide, 9-thiacyclo[4.2.1]-nona-2,4,7-trien-7-en-9-oxide, is accompanied by its inversion, via a suprafacial 1,3-migration of the SO bridged group [70].



SCHEME 52

Dibenzothiophene-5-oxide is rearranged into 1-hydroxydibenzothiophene at 700–900°C probably via an intermediate cyclic sulfenate [39].



SCHEME 53

Some four-membered cyclic β -sultines are unstable. They are rapidly decomposed under heating up to 30°C to give the corresponding ethylenes [71].



SCHEME 54

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of cyclic sultines at 550–950°C (0.07 mm) involves the formation of the corresponding cyclopropanes and alkenes (Scheme 55) [72]. The greatest amounts of cyclopropanes are formed from the first and second compounds at 750°C. Other reactions lead to the large amounts of olefins. Reactions at temperatures above 750°C lead to both alkylbenzenes and α -methylstyrene.



SCHEME 55

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of 4-benzamide- γ -sultines results in a mixture of N-allylamide and enamides. The reaction involves the migration of the benzamide group [73].



Durst-Charlton SO₂ extrusion from 1,4-dihydro-2,3-benzooxathinn 3-oxide generated o-quinodimethane, which was trapped in situ by p-benzoquinone and other p-quinones to afford tetrahydro-1,4-anthracenediones [74].



SCHEME 57

1,2,6-thiadiazine-S-oxides upon heating in toluene up to 90° C are transformed into the corresponding pyrazoles due to the extrusion of the SO group [75].



SCHEME 58

2.7.3. Di- and Trithiacyclanes Oxides

Heating of solutions of 2,5-diaryl-1,4-dithiine-1-oxides in acetonitrile up to 75°C leads to the corresponding 2-formyl-2,4-diaryl-1,3-dithioles and 2,4-diarylthiophenes [76].



SCHEME 59

The use of CCl_4 as the solvent leads to the formation of dithioles only. 2,4-Diarylthiophenes are exclusively formed in both benzene and 3,5-lutidine [77].

The heating of cyclic and spirocyclic sulfoxides in solution involves the β -cis-elimination of both sulfenic acid and olefin which enter into an electrophilic addition reaction to give new heterocyclic compounds [78].



SCHEME 60

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of benzotrithiol-2-oxide (540–720°C) and its derivatives involves the elimination of sulfur and the formation of the corresponding benzodithietes [79].



SCHEME 61

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of 2,2-diphenyl-1,3-dithiolane-1-oxide in vacuum (0.01 mm Hg) at 400–650°C involves the elimination of vinylsulfenic acid and the formation of thiobenzophenone [80].



The pyrolysis of spiro-1,3,3-trimethylbicyclo[2,2,1]heptane-2,2,1-(1',3'-dithiolene-1'-oxide) under analogous conditions at 700–850°C leads to thiofenchone in 63% yield [80].

3. SULFONES

3.1. Alkyl Sulfones

Thermal stability of sulfones depends upon the presence and number of β -hydrogen atoms. The absence of these or the presence of stabilizing groups leads to the stabilization of sulfones under heating (without solvent) up to 275°C during 1 h in vacuum. An α -phenyl group acts as both an electron-acceptor and a stabilizer. Di(*tert*-butyl) sulfone is the least stable of the sulfones having 18 β -hydrogen atoms. Dimethyl sulfone is the most stable compound of this series. The correspondence between thermal stability of sulfones and the stability of free radicals which were formed after the sulfones undergo homolysis has been found [81].

Dimethyl sulfone, benzyl methyl sulfone and allyl methyl sulfone are decomposed in a toluene jet at 360–640°C to give sulfur dioxide, methane, ethylbenzene, dibenzyl and the traces of ethane. The decomposition of allyl methyl sulfone also involves the formation of 1,5-hexadiene and 1-butene. Arrhenius values from the rate constants of sulfone decomposition have been determined. The mechanism of thermal decomposition of sulfones has been proposed [82].

$$\begin{array}{rcl} CH_3SO_2R & \longrightarrow & CH_3SO_2 + \dot{R} \\ CH_3SO_2 & \longrightarrow & \dot{C}H_3 + SO_2 \\ \dot{C}H_3 + CH_3C_6H_5 & \longrightarrow & CH_4 + \dot{C}H_2C_6H_5 \\ \dot{C}H_3 + \dot{C}H_2C_6H_5 & \longrightarrow & C_6H_5CH_2CH_3 \\ \dot{C}H_2C_6H_5 + \dot{C}H_2C_6H_5 & \longrightarrow & C_6H_5CH_2CH_2C_6H_5 \\ \dot{C}H_3 + \dot{C}H_3 & \longrightarrow & CH_3CH_3 \\ \dot{C}H_3 + \dot{C}H_2CH=CH_2 & \longrightarrow & CH_3CH_2CH=CH_2 \\ & SCHEME 63 \end{array}$$

The thermal decomposition of allyl sulfones of various structures at 170–390°C involves the elimination of sulfur dioxide and the formation of the corresponding olefins. The mechanism of the reaction at low temperatures is via a cyclic intermediate, and at high temperatures via free radicals [83,84].



SCHEME 64

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of dibenzyl sulfones at 600–700°C leads to the corresponding dibenzyls [85–87]. Polymers (5–20%) are also formed concurrently.

$$(ArCH_2)_2SO_2 \longrightarrow (ArCH_2)_2 + SO_2$$

Ar = C₆H₅, 4-CH₃C₆H₄, 4-*i*-C₃H₇C₆H₄, 4-(CH₃)₂CHC₆H₄, 4-C₆H₅CH₂C₆H₄

SCHEME 65

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of cinnamyl benzyl sulfone at 640° C results in indene, dibenzyl styrene and toluene. The decomposition involves cleavage of the C–S bond (not the extrusion of SO₂) [88].

SCHEME 66

The flash vacuum pyrolysis $(650^{\circ}C)$ of dibenzyl sulfone with methoxy groups in the ortho-position of the benzene ring leads to ortho-toluenealdehyde. The reaction mechanism involves the isomerization of the 2-methoxybenzene radical [89].

 $\begin{pmatrix} \begin{array}{c} & & \\ & &$

SCHEME 67

Phenyl(4-tolyl)ketone and 2-methylfluorene are the products of the pyrolysis of α (4-tolylsulfonyl)phenyldiazomethane at 350°C. The intermediate product of the reaction (sulfene) is generally polymerized [90].

SCHEME 68

2-Alkylsulfonylpyrazines upon heating up to 300-340°C are transformed into 2-alkylpyrazines, pyrazine and sulfur dioxide [91].

R = Me, Et, Pr, Bu, CH₂Bu, *i*-Bu, *s*-Bu, *i*-Pr, CHMeCHMe₂, *t*-Bu

SCHEME 69

The ratio of the products depends upon the nature of the substituent R.

3.2. Aryl Sulfones

Diphenyl sulfone is not decomposed at 400°C over a long period of time [92]. The flash vacuum pyrolysis of diphenyl sulfone at 900°C leads to a small amount of diphenyl (10%) [39]. *Bis*(4-tolyl) sulfone can be distilled in vacuum at 405°C without decomposition. The long-time heating of *bis*(4-tolyl) sulfone at 400°C involves the formation of higher sulfones and hydrocarbons [93]. The heating of *bis*(4-tolyl) sulfone at 800–880°C over the catalyst (SiO₂-Al₂O₃) leads to 4-ditolyl and diphenyl [94].

The thermolysis of bis(4-chlorophenyl) sulfone at 360–400°C is accompanied by the formation of sulfur dioxide, chlorobenzene, 4-dichlorobenzene, diphenyl sulfide, 4,4'-diphenyl, 4-chlorodiphenyl sulfone and high-boiling poly-conjugated products [95]. The reaction scheme involves free radical transformations of the decomposition products followed by homolytic dissociation of the C–S bond.

Diaryl sulfones containing a methyl group in the ortho-position of the benzene ring are decomposed at 370–400°C under pressure to give the corresponding diarylmethanes as shown in the following example [93].

The substitution of the SO_2 group for a methylene bridge is probably formed synchronically through the formation of cyclic intermediate.

1-Naphthylsulfonyl-3,4-dioxynaphthalene is dehydrated at 170–180°C into β -naphthyl (β -benzoquinolyl-3) sulfoxide. The reaction involves the cleavage of an oxygen atom from SO₂ group [96].

SCHEME 72

3.3. Sulfonylazides and Organylazo Sulfones

Flash vacuum pyrolysis of β -arylethylsulfonyl azides at 250–300°C gave some 3,4-dihydro-2,1-benzothiazine-2,2-dioxide, but the use of higher temperatures led to the formation of corresponding styrenes, indolines, indoles, sulfur dioxide and 4-substituted 6,7-dihydro-5H-1-pyridines, in good yields. The styrenes result from the elimination of HN₃ and SO₂ from azides, and indolines are formed in good yield by FVP of 3,4-dihydro-2,1-benzothiazine-2,2-dioxide at 650°C [97].

X, R', R'' = H, Me, Cl, OMe

SCHEME 73

Thermal decomposition of benzenesulfonylazide and its derivatives in cyclohexane solution at 130–150°C involves the formation of benzenesulfonamine and azobenzene [98].

$$3 C_6H_5SO_2N_3 \longrightarrow C_6H_5SO_2NH_2 + (C_6H_5N)_2 + 3 N_2$$

29.5%

SCHEME 74

The products of dimerization of the solvent have also been found. Liquid-phase pyrolysis of benzenesulfonylazide and its derivatives in the absence of solvent leads to only azosulfonylbenzenes [98].

 $2 C_6H_5SO_2N_3 \xrightarrow{-2N_2} (C_6H_5SO_2N)_2$

SCHEME 75

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of benzenesulfonylazide at 360°C proceeds more profoundly [99].

$$C_{6}H_{5}SO_{2}N_{3} \longrightarrow SO_{2} + (C_{6}H_{5}N)_{2} + C_{6}H_{5}SO_{2}NH_{2} + C_{6}H_{5}C_{6}H_{4}NH_{2} + C_{6}H_{5}C_{6}H_{5}$$

$$65\% \quad 32\% \qquad 2\% \qquad 1\% \qquad 2\%$$

SCHEME 76

Benzylsultam (5%) and a resin (21%) were also isolated from 2-methylbenzenesulfonylazide.

Thermolysis of α -azidobenzyl phenyl sulfone proceeds at temperatures above 150°C and gives a mixture of reaction products [100]. The reaction is catalyzed by the forming sulfonic acid.

$$PhSO_{2}CHPh \longrightarrow PhCN + PhCHO + PhSO_{2}SPh + PhSO_{3}H + PhSO_{3}H \cdot PhNH_{2} + PhSSPh$$

SCHEME 77

Aryl phenylazo sulfones are decomposed into free radicals upon heating in chlorobenzene solution at 80–180°C. The reaction proceeds according to first-order kinetics $(E_A = 33-39 \text{ Kcal/mol}, S^{\neq} = 16-30 \text{ entropy units})$. An isokinetic relationship was found to hold between ΔH^* and $\Delta S^*(B = 101.0^{\circ}\text{C})$. The substituents on the benzolsulfonyl group influenced the rates very little, whereas the substituents on the phenylazo group decreased rates (especially the electron-releasing substituents) [101].

$$X-C_{6}H_{4}N=NSC_{6}H_{4}-Y \longrightarrow X-C_{6}H_{4} \cdot + N_{2} + O_{2}SC_{6}H_{4}-Y$$

SCHEME 78

Benzylazo sulfone under heating in toluene, anisole, chlorobenzene or nitrobenzene is decomposed into diazobenzene and benzylsulfonyl radicals (trapped by a stable radical). The intermediate product is the radical pair, which is solvated in the polar media [102].

$$C_6H_5CH_2SO_2N=NC_6H_5 \longrightarrow [C_6H_5CH_2SO_2 \cdot N=NC_6H_5] \longrightarrow C_6H_5CH_2SO_2 + N_2C_6H_5$$

SCHEME 79

3.4. Sulfonylamines, Sulfonamides, -diimides and -imines

4-Tosylhydrazine is decomposed at 140°C to give a mixture of reaction products [103].

$$4-CH_{3}C_{6}H_{4}SO_{2}NHNH_{2} \longrightarrow [4-CH_{3}C_{6}H_{4}SO_{2}H + NH=NH] \longrightarrow$$

$$1/2 4-CH_{3}C_{6}H_{4}SH + 1/2 TsOH + N_{2} + [H]$$
SCHEME 80

The first stage of the reaction is thought to be the decomposition of the initial product into N_2H_2 and $4-CH_3C_6H_4SO_2H$. The further disproportionation of the acids involves the formation of 4-thiocresol and TsOH.

The corresponding benzoic acids and diphenyl sulfide have been found in the products of the pyrolysis of 1-aryl-2-phenylsulfonylhydrazines. The pyrolysis of N-aryl-sulfonylarylhydrazidoyl chlorides under analogous conditions leads to substituted benzaldehyde and 3,6-diaryl symmetric tetrarazines [104].

$$4-RC_{6}H_{4}CONHNHSO_{2}Ph \longrightarrow 4-RC_{6}H_{4}COOH + PhSSPh + H_{2}O + N_{2}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} 4-RC_{6}H_{4}CONHNHSO_{2}C_{6}H_{4}R'-4 \end{bmatrix} \cdot HC1 \longrightarrow 4-RC_{6}H_{4}CHO + Ar \longrightarrow N=N$$

SCHEME 81

The heating of N-phenylbenzenesulfonamide up to 300° C leads to aniline, diphenyl, carbazole, a mixture of isomeric aminodiphenyls and sulfur dioxide [105].

SCHEME 82

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of N-methylsulfonylphthalimide (0.1 mm) at 600°C involves the formation of sulfene and phthalimide [106].

SCHEME 83

The pyrolysis of *N*-benzylsulfonylphthalimide under analogous conditions results in only benzaldehyde in quantitative yield.

The heating of diphenylsulfodiimide up to 265° C leads to sulfur and azobenzene. The pyrolysis of di(*tert*-butyl)sulfodiimide at 200°C involves elimination of ammonia and hydrogen sulfide and the formation of 2-methylpropene [107].

SCHEME 84

The boiling of 2,2-dimethyl-1-(4-toluenesulfonylimino)thiochromane in benzene solution for 1 h leads to N[2-(3-methyl-3-butenyl)-phenylthio]-N-(2'-methylthiochroman-2'-ylmethyl)-4-toluenesulfamide in quantitative yield. The latter is decomposed in boiling xylene, to give several products [108].

SCHEME 85

3.5. Cyclic sulfones

3.5.1. Three-membered Heterocycles

Episulfone is thermally unstable. Its various derivatives show higher stability. The heating of episulfone derivatives at temperatures above 60–100°C involves the quantitative elimination of SO₂, and the formation of the corresponding olefins [109]. The reaction is strongly stereospecific. The thermolysis of *cis*-epithio-2-butenedioxide [110], chloroepisulfones [111,112], 2-methyl- and 2-bromo-episulfone [113], asymmetric alkyl-, phenyl-, benzene-episulfones [114] have been studied. The pyrolysis of 2,3-diaryl-2,3-diethyl- and 2,2-diaryl-3,3-diethyl-thiirane-dioxides at 100°C involves the elimination of SO₂ and formation of the corresponding substituted ethylenes (*trans*-isomers) [115,116]. *Trans*-stilbene episulfone is less stable than its *cis*-isomer [117,118]. The moderate heating of phenylsulfene leads to both *cis*-stilbene episulfone and *trans*-stilbene (instead of a mixture of *cis*- and *trans*-stilbene episulfones).

The pyrolysis of *cis*-stilbene episulfone at 90°C involves the elimination of SO₂ and formation of *cis*-stilbene. The heating of tetraphenylethylene sulfone in vacuum up to 50-160°C leads to the elimination of SO₂ as well as formation of tetraphenylethylene.

The heating of *cis*-dibenzenestilbene episulfone in vacuum up to 300° C results in SO₂, dibenzene, diphenylacetylene and 2,2,3,4-tetraphenyl-2(3H)-furanone [119]. The reaction mechanism involves the transformation of the 3-membered ring episulfonic into the 5-membered 1,2,3-dioxathiolane followed by the transformation into less strained 4-membered ring cyclic sulfinate.

SCHEME 87

Thiirene-1,1-dioxides are more stable than their saturated analogs (episulfones). The pyrolysis of thiirene-1,1-dioxides at $120-130^{\circ}$ C involves the elimination of SO₂, and formation of the corresponding acetylenic hydrocarbons [120,121].

The rate constants for SO₂ extrusion of the substituted thiirene-1,1-dioxides are best correlated with σ^+ constants. This is indicative of a stepwise mechanism of SO₂ group cleavage [122]. The experimental values of the rate constants coincide with those calculated for the stepwise mechanism but differ from those calculated for the mechanism of SO₂ extrusion. Thiirenes show the following order of stability: thiirenes < thiirene-1,1-dioxides < thiirene-1-oxides. Thiirene-1-oxides are the most thermally stable in this series due to the strong conjugation effect in its molecule (*p*- π -conjugation due to free pair of electrons of sulfur atom). But the low thermal stability of sulfones could be explained by the fact that SO₂ is cleaved easier than SO.

Thiaziridine-1,1-dioxides are decomposed at $40-70^{\circ}$ C to give the corresponding aldimines [123].

3.5.2. Four-membered Heterocycles

The pyrolysis of both *cis*- and *trans*-2,4-dimethyl-thietane-1,1-dioxide at 350°C leads to *cis*- and *trans*-1,2-dimethylcyclopropane (50%) as well as *cis*- and *trans*-2-pentene (16%) [124].

SCHEME 90

An increase of the reaction temperature results in an increasing yield of pentenes as well as decreasing the reaction stereospecificity. The reaction mechanism involves biradical formation (via cleavage of C-S bond), SO₂ extrusion and the transformation of a biradical into cyclopropanes or 2-pentenes.

SCHEME 91

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of thietanes and 3-oxo-thiethane-1,1-dioxide at 930–960°C involves the elimination of SO_2 and the formation of the corresponding unsaturated product [125,126].

The pyrolysis of 3-thiethanol-1,1-dioxide at 935° C leads to acetaldehyde, formaldehyde, acetone, acrolein, dimethylacetal, ethane, ethylene and SO₂.

The dried sodium salt of 2,2,4,4-tetramethyl-3-oxo-thietane-1,1-dioxide tosylhydrazone is decomposed in vacuum at $110-160^{\circ}$ C to give tetramethylallene and sodium 4-tolylsulfinate [127].

SCHEME 93

Tetra(trifluoromethyl)-1,3-dithietane-1,1-dioxide is transformed at 550°C into tetra (fluoromethyl)thiirane [128].

SCHEME 94

Dichloro-2,3-*bis*(trifluoromethyl)thiirane and 2,2,3-trichloro-3-fluoromethylthiirane were isolated by thermolysis (FVP) of the two 1,3-dithietane-1,1-dioxides under SO_2 extrusion [129].

Thiete-1,1-dioxide in the liquid or gas phase is thermally rearranged into sultine probably through the intermediate formation of a vinylsulfene [125].

SCHEME 96

In the presence of phenol, vinylsulfene gives phenyl 2-propene-1-sulfonate.

3.5.3. Five-membered Heterocycles

Sulfolane and its derivatives are decomposed at $365-405^{\circ}$ C to give SO₂ as well as both saturated and unsaturated hydrocarbons, as shown in the following example [126,130].

SCHEME 97

The Arrhenius constant for the pyrolysis rate of 3-methylsulfolane has been determined. The reaction mechanism involves C–S bond cleavage (the main stage), then C-C bond cleavage and SO₂ elimination. An alternative mechanism with formation of a C_4 biradical with SO₂ extrusion is highly improbable [126]. The mechanisms of the thermal reactions of sulfolanes have been discussed in a review [131].

Thermal decomposition of the dichlorocarbene adduct of sulfolenes at 140–160°C leads to the corresponding dichlorodienes and chlorothiopyranedioxides [132].

SCHEME 98

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of thieno-cyclobuta[1,2-c]furan S,S-dioxide (X = O) and its analogues at 625°C results in *cis*-1,2-divinyl heterocycles [133].

SCHEME 99

The sublimation of 7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane-7,7-dioxide at 0.04 mm in a quartz tube at 520° C leads to 1,5-hexadiene. The pyrolysis of 9-thiabicyclo[3.3.1]nonane-9,9-dioxide at 710° C (0.1 mm) results in *cis*-bicyclo[3.3.1]octane and cyclooctene [134].

SCHEME 100

The heating of 7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptanone and -heptadione at $160-220^{\circ}$ C involves the elimination of SO₂ and the formation of 2-cyclohexenone and hydroquinone [135].

SCHEME 101

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of 2-vinyl-1,3-dithiolane-1,1-dioxides at 430–600°C leads to thiophene, dihydrothiophene and 2-propenethials [136].

SCHEME 102

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of thiazolidine-1,1-dioxides proceeds in three directions depending upon the compound's structure [137].

SCHEME 103

4-Substituted 3-benzyl thiazolidine-1,1-dioxides at 600–655°C are transformed into a mixture of five products [138].

SCHEME 104

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of tricyclic sulfolane derivatives at 550–580°C leads to *cis*-1,2-divinyl compounds which undergo Cope rearrangement [139,140].

 $X = O, NCO_2Me, NCO_2Et, CH_2$

SCHEME 105

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of 3-thiabicyclo[3.2.0]hept-6-ene at 500° C results in stereospecific extrusion of SO₂ to give Z-hexa-1,3,5-triene which undergoes electrocyclisation to give cyclohexa-1,3-diene [139,140].

SCHEME 106

Upon FVP, the tricyclo[5.3.0.0]skeleton loses SO₂ to give stable *cis*-1,2-divinyl compounds [139–141].

The tricyclic Diels-Alder adducts upon FVP lose SO_2 and butadiene to give tetrasubstituted benzenes [139,140].

SCHEME 108

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of tricyclic systems containing 3-thiabicyclo[3.2-b]-3,3dioxide at 550–620°C involves the formation of *cis*-divinyl-substituted systems, [133(131)] which are transformed further into E,Z-dienes [142].

 $X \approx CO_2H$ (34%), CH₂OAc(30%), CH₂OH(39%), CH₂OMe(47%), CO₂Me(87%)

SCHEME 109

Previous limitations of highly reactive [4]dendralene (3,4-dimethylenehexa-1,5-diene) as a tandem annulating reagent in Diels–Alder reactions are overcome by the use of its masked form 6,7-dimethylene-3-thiabicyclo[3.2.0]-heptane-3,3-dioxide, and subsequent extrusion of SO_2 under flash pyrolitic conditions. Similar pyrolyses of other cyclo-adducts obtained from the diene and a variety of dienophiles generated tetra- and hexa-hydronaphthalene derivatives in good-to-exellent yields [143].

SCHEME 110

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of new bi- and tri-cyclic sulfones and containing the novel 2-thiabicyclo[3.2.0]heptane 2,2-dioxide ring system ($450-775^{\circ}C$) results in either cycloreversion with elimination of 2-sulfolene or, in one case extrusion of ethane and SO to give the 1,3-diene. Pyrolysis of bicyclic alkene results in loss of only SO₂ to give cyclohexa-1,3-diene, but its epoxide loses SO₂ and ethene to afford furan [144].

Extrusion of SO₂ from *N*-anilinocarbonylpyrazolo-3 sulfolenes was achieved at $180-190^{\circ}$ C and the transient intermediate, the pyrazolo-*o*-quinodimethane, could be

trapped with dienophiles to give annulated pyrazoles [145].

SCHEME 112

Thermal reactions of sulfolene and its derivatives proceed through an intermediate product with synchronic formation (or cleavage) of C–S bonds. The reaction is strictly stereospecific. In some cases the reaction mechanism can be two-staged and involves the cleavage of the S–C bond as well as the formation of a biradical in the first stage. As a result a mixture of isomeric dienes is formed [146–149].

Cheleotropic extrusion of SO_2 from 3-vinyl-2,5-dihydrothiophene-1,1-dioxide provides a clean and efficient route to [3] dendralene (3-methylenepenta-1,4-diene) under flash vacuum pyrolitic conditions (550°C, 0.001 mm Hg), the simplest member of the diene-transmissive polyenes [150].

R = H, Me, Cl, SiMe₃, SO₂Ph

SCHEME 114

Thermolysis of other sulfolenes gave substituted butadienes [151-153].

 $Me_{3}Si \xrightarrow{SPh} Me_{3}Si \xrightarrow{SPh} SPh$ $O^{I} \xrightarrow{S} O$ $R \xrightarrow{SiMe_{3}} \xrightarrow{SiMe_{3}} \xrightarrow{SiMe_{3}} \xrightarrow{SiMe_{3}} \xrightarrow{R^{1}} \xrightarrow{SiMe_{3}} \xrightarrow{R^{1}} \xrightarrow{R$

SCHEME 115

A stereoselective synthesis of (E)- α -hydroxy-1,3-dienes, by thermal (125°C, NaHCO₃) extrusion of SO₂ from sulfolenes is presented [154,155].

SCHEME 116

Thermolysis of several new 2-(ω -alkenyl)-3-sulfolenes through a tube in a furnace under N₂ at 580°C led to cheletropic extrusion of SO₂ followed by intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction to yield the corresponding hydroindanes and hydronaphthalenes [156].

SCHEME 117

The ability of aqueous surfactant aggregates to control the regiochemistry of Diels-Alder reactions was investigated with surfactant 1,3-diene. Diene was derived *in situ* from surfactant sulfone by thermal extrusion (130°C) of SO₂ as illustrated [157].

SCHEME 118

The thermal extrusion of SO_2 from disubstituted 3-sulfolenes leads to 2,3-donoracceptor-substituted 1,3-butadienes. These dienes react with acrylic acid ester and ethyl vinyl ether to give the corresponding Diels-Alder adducts. The pyrolysis of 3-sulfolene (X = OH) afforded the thiolactone [158].

SCHEME 119

A tandem sulfolene SO_2 extrusion – intramolecular Diels-Alder cyclization of sulfolene derivatives gave the C-5 epimers of the manzamine tricyclic ABC ring system via a C-5 to C-8 diene bearning a C-5/C-6 Z-alkene [159].

SCHEME 120

Flash vacuum pyrolysis of the η 5-(cyclopentadienyl)cobalt η 4-thiophene 1,1-dioxides gave the Co cyclobutadiene complexes with SO₂ extrusion [160,161].

The retro Diels-Alder reaction involving the elimination of SO₂ gave *cis*-2,5-disubstituted-2,5-dihydrothiophene-1,1-dioxides which were transformed into the corresponding (E,E)-conjugate dienes [162–166].

SCHEME 121

Thermolysis of two isomeric series of homologous *N*-(acryloyloxy)alkylated pyrazolo-3-sulfolenes provides the corresponding *o*-quinodimethanes which underwent "type-two" intramolecular Diels–Alder reactions to form two- and three-atom-bridged tricyclic pyrazoles [167].

SCHEME 122

When heated in the presence of electron-poor dieniophiles and [60] fullerene, sultines underwent extrusion of SO_2 , and the resulting heterocyclic *o*-quinodimerthanes were intercepted as the 1:1 adducts in good to excellent yield [168].

N-(Acetyl), 2-alkyl- or 2-aryl pyrazolo-3-sulfolenes readily undergo SO₂ extrusion upon heating and, in the presence of dienophiles, such as *N*-phenylmaleimide and fumarate, give the corresponding [4+2] cycloadducts in good yields [169].

2-Phenyloxazolo-3-sulfolene undergoes a SO₂ extrusion reaction to afford a reactive 2-phenyloxazolo-o-quinodimethane at room temperature. To explain the exceptional thermal reactivity of 2-phenyloxazolo-3-sulfolene, oxazolo and other 5-membered heteroaromatic-fused 3-sulfolenes were studied theoretically [170].

SCHEME 123

2-Methyl-5,6-dimethylenepyrimidin-4-one is generated by termal extrusion of SO_2 from fused 3-sulfolene and can be trapped with dienophiles and nucleophiles [171,172].

SCHEME 124

The generation of *o*-quinodimethane from unsubstituted quinoxaline-3-sulfolene was achieved at temperatures higher than 290°C [173–175].

Carbazole-1,2-quinodimethane was generated by thermal extrusion of SO_2 from an appropriate dihydrothieno[3,4-*a*]carbazole-*S*,*S*-dioxide. This novel ortho-quinodimethane was trapped *in situ* by Diels-Alder reactions with *N*-phenylmaleimide, 1,4naphthoquinone, or fumarate to give the corresponding carbazole [176].

SCHEME 126

Thermolysis of symmetrical tetrasulfolenoporphyrins provides the corresponding o-quinodimethanes [177].

SCHEME 127

Aza-o-xylylenes generated via thermal extrusion (215°C) of SO₂ from 1,3-dihydro-2,1-benzisothiazolo-3-spiro-2'-indan 2,2-dioxides undergo a [1,5] hydrogen shift to give 2-phenylindene derivatives in good yield [178,179].

SCHEME 128

Aza-ortho-xylylenes generated by the thermal extrusion $(215^{\circ}C)$ of SO₂ from 3-alkyl-2,1-benzisothiazoline 2,2-dioxides, undergo [1,5] hydrogen shift leading to 2-amino-styrene derivatives [180–183]

SCHEME 129

Reactions of 1,4-naphthoquinone with aza-o-xylylenes generated via thermal extrusion of SO₂ from 2,1-benzisothiazoline 2,2-dioxides, leads to tetrahydronaphthalene-2-spiro-2'-dihydroindole derivatives [184].

SCHEME 130

2,3-Dihydro-3-imino-2-methylenepyridines, generated by thermal extrusion $(215^{\circ}C)$ of SO₂ from 1,3-dialkyl-1,3-dihydroisothiazolo[4,3-*b*]pyridine 2,2-dioxides, underwent [1,5] hydrogen shifts, which led to 3-alkylamino-2-vinylpyridine derivatives. Cyclo-alkanespiro-3-pyridinosultams gave 3-alkylamino-2-cyclkoalkenylpyridine derivatives. Cyclobutanespiro-3-pyridinosultam, after thermal extrusion of SO₂, formed

a cyclobutenyl derivative, which underwent a ring-opening reaction to form a butadiene derivative [185].

SCHEME 131

SCHEME 132

Thiopheneoxide and thiophenedioxide are unstable dienes possessing high reaction ability. They have been prepared by multi-stage synthesis but were not obtained as pure products. Due to their instability they exist only in solutions [186,187]. The oxidation of thiophene by hydrogen peroxide leads to 4,7,8,9-tetrahydro-4,7-sulfonyl-thianaphthene-1,1-dioxide. The latter under heating up to 180° C is transformed into benzo[b]thiophene-1,1-dioxide [188].

SCHEME 133

2,5-Disubstituted-thiophenedioxides are thermally stable compounds. The impulse pyrolysis of 2,5-dimethylthiophene-1,1-dioxide at 880°C leads to 2,5-dimethylfuran [189].

SCHEME 134

Tetraphenylthiophene-dioxide at 340° C is transformed into both 1,2,3-triphenylnaphthalene and 1,2,3-triphenylazulen. The gas-phase pyrolysis of tetraphenylthiophene-dioxide at 500–550°C leads to tetraphenylfuran and tetraphenylthiophene. The impulse pyrolysis of tetraphenylthiophene-dioxide in vacuum (880°C) results in diphenylacetylene [189,190]. The first stage of tetraphenylthiophene-dioxide pyrolysis involves C–S bond cleavage. The radical formed at 340°C is isomerized into a vinyl radical, which is intramolecularly cyclized with SO₂ extrusion. The reactions of openingclosing of the thiophene ring in the gas phase at 500°C involves the elimination of atoms of sulfur or oxygen. The extrusion of SO₂ as well as the formation of hydrocarbon biradical is observed at 880°C.

SCHEME 135

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of tetrachlorothiophene-dioxide leads to perchlorovinylacetylene. The vacuum pyrolysis of 2,5-, 2,4- or 3,4-dialkyl(diphenyl)thiophene-1,1dioxides results in the corresponding 2,5-, 2,4- or 3,4-dialkyl(diphenyl)furans [189,191,192].

SCHEME 136

The pyrolysis of 1,3-dihydrobenzo[c]thiophene-2,2-dioxide in the melt at $380-300^{\circ}$ C involves the formation of SO₂, *ortho*-xylene, as well as benzocyclobutene and its dimer. The pyrolysis in gas phase at 460-470°C leads to only benzocyclobutene in high yield [193,194].

SCHEME 137

Ortho-quinodimethane is the initial product of the reaction. Substituted benzocyclobutanes are formed analogously. Substituted 1,3-dihydro[c]thiophene-2,2-dioxides are transformed into the corresponding stilbenes at 600–700°C [195].

The thermolysis of 1,1,3-triphenyl-1,3-dihydroizothionaphthene-2,2-dioxide proceeds at 150°C to give 9,10-dihydroanthracene derivatives [196].

SCHEME 138

Gas-phase pyrolysis of benzothiophene-1,1-dioxide (1000°C) leads to benzothiete (45%), benzene (8%) as well as benzothiophene and benzofuran [188,197].

SCHEME 139

Liquid-phase pyrolysis of benzothiophene-1,1-dioxide, both in the the presence and absence of solvent, leads to dimerization of the Diels-Alder type. The reaction involves the elimination of SO_2 and the formation of $6\text{-}a,11\text{-}b\text{-}dihydronaphtho}[2,1\text{-}b]-benzo[d]thiophene-7,7-dioxide [198].$

SCHEME 140

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of hexachlorobenzo[b]thiophene-1,1-dioxide (840°C, 0.01 mm Hg) leads to hexachlorophenylacetylene [199].

SCHEME 141

Quinodimethanes, obtained by thermal extrusion of SO_2 from benzothiophene dioxides, reacted with dienophiles to give analogs of the aryltetralin and arylnaphthalene lignans [200].

 $R = CH_2$, Me; $R^1 = H$; $R^2 = C_6H_2(OMe)_3$ -3,4,5; 3,4-methylenedioxyphenyl; $CC_6H_3(OMe)_2$ -3,4

SCHEME 142

Gas-phase pyrolysis of dibenzothiophene-5,5-dioxide (650–1000°C) results in dibenzothiophene and dibenzofuran [188,201]. Dibenzo[c,c][1,2]oxathiine-6-oxide is the intermediate product of the reaction. It is further transformed (690–900°C) into dibenzothiophene and dibenzofuran in a similar ratio [188,201–204].

SCHEME 143

The pyrolysis of dibenzothiophene-5,5-dioxide in the glow discharge plasma $(240^{\circ}C/1 \text{ mm Hg})$ leads to diphenylene. Dibenzofuran, naphthalene and dibenzothiophene are the other products of the reaction [205].

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of naphthothiophene-dioxides involves the formation of the corresponding cyclobutene aromatic hydrocarbons [206,207].

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of the corresponding spirodisulfone at 700° C (10 mm Hg) leads to 1,1'-spirodibenzocyclobutene and 2,2'-dimethylbenzophenone [208].

SCHEME 145

The pyrolysis of 1,3,6,8-tetrahydrothiophene[1,2-c-3,4-c']benzene-2,2,7,7-tetroxide in vacuum proceeds at 280°C and leads to dicyclobutenebenzene [209].

SCHEME 146

The pyrolysis of 9,10-dihydro-11-thia-9,10-ethanoanthracen-11,11-dioxide (or its substituted derivative) in vacuum at 300°C results in 9-methyldihydroanthracene. The pyrolysis of the same compound at 500°C involves the formation of 5H-dibenzo [a,d]cycloheptene [210].

SCHEME 147

The pyrolysis of the mixture of *cis*- and *trans*-1,3-diphenyl-1,3-dihydrothieno[3,4-*b*]quinoxaline-2,2-dioxide (180–550°C) leads to 2,3-dibenzylquinoxaline and some of its derivatives [211].

SCHEME 148

Substituted 2,5-dihydro-1,3,4-thiadiazole-1,1-dioxide eliminates SO_2 at 50°C. The reaction also involves the formation of the corresponding ketazine derivatives [212,213]. Rapid heating up to 205–240°C as well as gas-phase pyrolysis of the substituted 2,5-dihydro-1,3,4-thiadiazole-1,1-dioxide at 500–550°C leads to ethylene derivatives [214,215].

SCHEME 149

3.5.4. Six-membered Heterocycles

The intramolecular Ramberg–Becklund reaction (the 1,3-elimination of HBr followed by SO₂ extrusion from α -bromosulfones) was examinated in the 1-thiadecalin system. A convenient method for the synthesis of strained bridgehead olefins was offered [216].

 $R = \alpha - Br, \beta - Br$

SCHEME 150

The thermolysis of 3-phenyl-5-oxy-2H-thiopyrane-1,1-dioxide does not involve extrusion of SO₂ and leads to 5-phenyl-2H-thiopyrane-1,1-dioxide and its dimer [217].

SCHEME 151

The flash vacuum pyrolysis of 2H-1-benzothiopyrane-2,2-dioxide at 650–775°C leads to cinnamyl aldehyde and 2H-1-benzopyrane. The pyrolysis of 1H-2-benzo-thiopyrane-2,2-dioxide under analogous conditions results in *ortho*-vinylbenzaldehyde and indene [218].

SCHEME 152

The breaking of the S–O ring bond as well as SO group cleavage leads to the formation of a biradical which is either closed into a pyrane ring, or is isomerized. Indene is the product of SO_2 extrusion from the initial 1H-2-benzothiopyrane-2,2-dioxide.

The heating of 1,1,3,3-tetramethylnaphtho[1,8-c,d]-thiopyrane-2,2-dioxide under an argon atmosphere at its boiling (~400°C) involves the elimination of SO₂ and the formation of 1,1,2,2-tetramethylacenaphthene [219].

SCHEME 153

A novel synthesis of the pyrazole ring involving SO_2 extrusion by flow vacuum pyrolysis of a 1,2,6-thiadiazine 1,1-dioxide has been described. The reaction has potential industrial significance for routes to pyrazoles or functionalized pyrazoles that do not involve hydrazines [220].

SCHEME 154

3.5.5. Seven-membered Heterocycles

The ring of 2,7-dimethyl-2,7-dihydrothiepine-1,1-dioxide is opened under heating. The reaction involves the elimination of SO_2 and formation of 2,4,6-octatriene [221].

3.5.6. Macrocyclic Sulfide Dioxides

The method for the synthesis of macrocyclic hydrocarbons based on SO_2 elimination from cyclic mono-, *bis*- and *tris*-sulfones during their vacuum pyrolysis has found wide application. The pyrolysis of sulfones as a synthetic method for the simple onestage preparation of various cyclophane systems has been fully considered in articles and reviews [222–224]. The literature on the technology of impulse vacuum pyrolysis has also been summarized.

Three routes of the pyrolysis of cyclic sulfones have been shown [222].

1. The pyrolysis of double benzyl sulfones is shown below [225-251].

SCHEME 156

2. The pyrolysis of semi-benzyl sulfones is shown below [225,252-264].

SCHEME 157

Extrusion of SO₂ (400–500°C) from 2,11-dithia-4,5,6,7,8,9-hexahydro[3,3]paracyclophane 2,2,11,11-tetraoxide gave hexahydro[2,2] paracyclophane. It is the first cyclophane to contain both a benzene ring and a cyclohexane ring [265].

SCHEME 158

3. The pyrolysis of non-benzyl sulfones is shown below [222,263,266].

In the last two cases the elimination of SO_2 can be accompanied by the elimination of a part of the hydrocarbon chain.

Thermal decomposition of the tricyclic tetrasulfone, derived from tetramethylhexathiaadamantane occurs in three distinct and increasingly significant steps centered at 175 (~12% weight loss), 260 (~20% weight loss) and 305°C (~58% weight loss). Gas phase FT-IR detection of the evolved gases revealed SO₂ liberation during the latter two weight loss steps [267].

SCHEME 160

4. SULFINIC ACIDS AND THEIR ESTERS

Sulfinic acids are easily formed during the reduction of sulfonyl chlorides. Usually the acids have the following structure:

SCHEME 161

Sulfinic acids are very unstable and undergo disproportionation and decomposition easily. Aromatic sulfinic acids are more stable than aliphatic ones. Their disproportionation proceeds at 25–110°C and involves the formation of thiosulfonates and sulfonic acids [268].

 $3 \text{ ArSO}_2\text{H} \longrightarrow \text{ArSO}_2\text{-SAr} + \text{ArSO}_3\text{H} + \text{H}_2\text{O}$ SCHEME 162

Electron-donor substituents in the aromatic ring accelerate the reaction rate while electron-acceptor substituents inhibit the reaction [269]. The first rapid stage of the reaction leads to the formation of a sulfinyl sulfone, which is slowly isomerized into a sulfonylsulfonate. The latter reacts with the initial sulfinic acid to give thiosulfonate and sulfonic acid [270–272].

SCHEME 163

Sulfinic acids are decomposed in vacuum at 275° C to give SO₂, olefins, saturated hydrocarbons and hydrogen [273]. According to the scheme the reactions mechanism involves free radicals.

$$RSO_{2}H \longrightarrow \dot{R} + \dot{S}O_{2}H$$

$$\dot{S}O_{2}H \longrightarrow SO_{2} + \dot{H}$$

$$RSO_{2}H + \dot{R}(\dot{H}) \longrightarrow R\dot{S}O_{2} + RH(H_{2})$$

$$R\dot{S}O_{2} \longrightarrow \dot{R} + SO_{2}$$

$$R'CH_{2}CH_{2}SO_{2}H + \dot{R} \longrightarrow R'\dot{C}HCH_{2}SO_{2}H + RH$$

$$R'\dot{C}HCH_{2}SO_{2}H \longrightarrow R'CH=CH_{2} + \dot{S}O_{2}H$$

SCHEME 164

Some esters of sulfinic acids are isomerized upon heating into their corresponding sulfones [274,275].

The rearrangement is performed due to the presence of methyl or phenyl substituent in α -carbon atom of the sulfinate molecule. The reaction is accelerated if R and R' are the electron-donors and the reaction medium is polar [276]. The isomerization of sulfinates into sulfones proceeds through the intermediate generation of carbonium ions [275,276,230,231].

Crotyl- and α -methylallylphenylsulfinate are isomerizated only to crotyl phenyl sulfone [274].

The boiling of a sulfinate having a β -acetylenic group in chlorobenzene solution leads to the sulfone of an allenyl sulfone [277].

The pyrolysis $(250-350^{\circ}C)$ of silver arylsulfinates involves two parallel reactions, first cleavage of the O-Ag bond and then disproportionation [278].

$$C_{6}H_{5}S-OAg \longrightarrow Ag + C_{6}H_{5}SO_{2}$$

$$\bigcup_{\substack{0\\O\\C_{6}H_{5}SO_{2} \longrightarrow SO_{2} + \dot{C}_{6}H_{5}} 2\dot{C}_{6}H_{5} \longrightarrow C_{6}H_{5}C_{6}H_{5}$$

$$C_{6}H_{5}S-OAg \longrightarrow C_{6}H_{5}SAg + 2C_{6}H_{5}SO_{2}OAg$$

$$\bigcup_{\substack{0\\O\\O}}$$

SCHEME 168

The first reaction leads to di- and terphenyl while the second results in diaryl sulfides, diaryl sulfones, etc. The addition of a chlorine atom to the *ortho*-position of the aromatic ring promotes the cleavage of SO_2 from the ArSO₂ radical.

5. SULFONIC ACIDS AND THEIR ESTERS

The pyrolysis of many sulfonic acids has been investigated only in the last century. Methanesulfonic acid is decomposed on heating at a temperature above 130°C. The distillation of methanesulfonic acid in vacuum (10 mm) at 167°C involves no decomposition. The destruction of this acid in the gas phase at 225–500°C in the presence of metals (Al, Bi, Hg) leads to methanol, dimethyl ether and dimethylsulfate [279].

$$CH_3SO_3H \longrightarrow CH_3OH + (CH_3)_2O + (CH_3)_2SO_4$$

SCHEME 169

Sulfoacetic acid undergoes disproportion upon heating to $190-210^{\circ}$ C to give SO₃ and CO₂ [280,281].

$$HO_2CCH_2SO_3H \longrightarrow SO_3 + CH_3CO_2H$$

$$SO_3 + HO_2CCH_2SO_3H \longrightarrow CO_2 + CH_2(SO_3H)_2$$

SCHEME 170

Sulfoisopropyl-succinic acid at160-170°C is transformed into terebinic acid [282].

SCHEME 171

The heating of bromoacetylsulfuric acid leads to bromosulfoacetic acid [283].

BrCH₂COOSO₃H → HO₃SCHBrCOOH

SCHEME 172

The pyrolysis of ω -phenylalkylmethanesulfonates proceeds at 280–340°C via elimination of methanesulfonic acid [284].

PhCH₂CH₂O₃SMe \longrightarrow PhCH=CH₂ + MeSO₃H PhCH₂CH₂CH₂O₃SMe \longrightarrow PhCH₂CH=CH₂ + MeSO₃H PhCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂O₃SMe \longrightarrow PhCH₂CH=CH₂ + MeSO₃H SCHEME 173

Perfluorosulfonic acids CF_3SO_3H and $C_2F_5SO_3H$ and their anhydrides are thermally stable up to a temperature of 180°C. In solutions these acids or their anhydrides form perfluorosulfonic esters at room temperature [285].

2H-Heptafluoropropylfluorosulfates in the presence of cesium fluoride are transformed into perfluoro ketones (125°C) [286].

$$R_{f}OSO_{2}F \longrightarrow (CF_{3})_{2}CO \left(\overbrace{F}^{O} \right)$$
$$R_{f} = i \cdot P_{\overline{F}}, \quad \overline{F}, \text{ perfluoronorborn-1-yl}$$

SCHEME 174

The distillation of arylsulfonic acid leads to the corresponding hydrocarbons and sulfones. The heating of 4-sulfanylic acid results in 4,4'-diaminodiphenyl sulfoxide [287].

$$NH_2 \rightarrow SO_3H \rightarrow NH_2 \rightarrow SO_3H \rightarrow NH_2 + H_2O + O_2$$

SCHEME 175

Benzosulfonates of alkaline metals in an inert atmosphere or in air at $510-570^{\circ}$ C are transformed into phenol, thiophenol, diphenyl sulfide, thiantrene, diphenyl ether, SO₂, Na₂SO₃, Na₂SO₄, Na₂S, C₂H₄ and water [288].

Aromatic sulfonic acids alkyl esters are decomposed on heating to give arylsulfonic acids and alkenes [289,290].

$$ArSO_3CH_2CH_2R \longrightarrow ArSO_3H + RCH=CH_2$$

SCHEME 176

The pyrolysis of benzyl benzenesulfonate at 125° C involves the formation of benzenesulfonic acid and a polymer of phenylmethylene. The heating of phenyl(β -chloroethyl) sulfate leads to the elimination of both vinyl chloride and benzenesulfonic acid [289].

The pyrolysis of cyclohexylmethyl 4-toluenesulfonate is accompanied by the formation of methylcyclohexane, cyclohexene, 1-methylcyclohexene, 3-methylcyclohexene, methylenecyclohexane, cycloheptene and toluene [291,292].

The thermolysis (90–150°C) of 2-pyridinesulfonic acid cyclohexyl ester leads to cyclohexene. Other sulfonates are decomposed analogously [293].

SCHEME 178

Thermal decomposition of β -sulfopropionic acid cyclic anhydride at 180°C involves the formation of acrylic acid [294].

The α -hydrogen atom is shifted to the carbonyl group of the intermediate radical. Analogously β -sulfoisobutyric acid cyclic anhydride is transformed into methacrylic acid at 220°C. If the cyclic anhydride does not contain an α -hydrogen atom the thermolysis of the anhydride proceeds in another way. For example, the decomposition of β -sulfotrimethylenesulfonic acid at 230°C leads to a complex mixture of the products. The intermediate biradical either loses CO₂ to give hydrocarbon mixtures or adds two hydrogen atoms to give trimethylacetic acid [295].

The thermolysis of δ -sulfones containing double bonds at 230–250°C leads to furan derivatives [296,297].

SCHEME 180

The main products from thermolysis at 150–350°C of sulfites are the corresponding alcohol and olefin [298–300].

 $R^{2}CH_{2}CH(R^{1})OSOR \longrightarrow SO_{2} + ROH + R^{2}CH=CHR^{1}$ O $R = Alk, R^{1}, R^{2} = Alk, Ph$

SCHEME 181

Olefins are formed from methyl-S-alkylsulfites (90% yield) as well as from methylprimary alkylsulfites (in lower yield).

Gas-phase pyrolysis of the cyclic sulfite, 2-oxo-5,5-bis(chloromethyl)-1,3,2-dioxathiane at 500°C results in formaldehyde, sulfur dioxide and 3-chloro-2-chloromethyl-1-propene [300].

The pyrolysis (240–350°C) of the *cis*-isomer of the cyclic sulfite of hydrobenzoin leads to desoxybenzoin. The pyrolysis of the *trans*-isomer results in diphenylacetaldehyde. Analogously, cyclohexanone is the product of the pyrolysis of the *cis*-isomer of the cyclic sulfite of cyclohexanediol. Cyclopentanealdehyde is the product of the pyrolysis of the corresponding *trans*-isomer [300].

This effect can be explained by the differences of the intermediate zwitterions, which are formed due to the cleavage of the C–O bond in the sulfites. In the second case the migration of a β -proton through a quasi-six-membered cycle is preferable.

The pyrolysis of S-epimeric cyclic sulfites leads to a mixture of the corresponding aldehydes and ketones [301,302]. The difference in ratio of ketone to aldehyde between the *cis* and *trans*-sulfite starting material has been explained by the possibility of α -proton capture by the oxygen atom of the sulfite group in a *cis*-position. This leads to the formation of ketone according to an enol mechanism.

SCHEME 184

The pyrolysis of pentaerithrol cyclic disulfite at 260–270°C involves the elimination of sulfur dioxide and closing of one cycle [303].

SCHEME 185

2,2-Dimethylpropanediol sulfite is stable at 500°C. The pyrolysis of propanediol-1,3-sulfite at 300°C leads to a polymer of formaldehyde.

Stereospecific extrusion of SO_2 occurred from cyclic thiosulfonates upon storage or mild heating; (5*R*)-penems were obtained even in cases where the biologically inactive 5*S* epimers had been anticipated as a consequence of the *trans*-directing effect of the C7 substituent [304].

Bis(9-triptycyl) sulfides were prepared by pyrolytic extrusion of SO₂ (250-300°C) from the corresponding thiosulfonates [305].

TpSSO₂Tp $\xrightarrow{-SO_2}$ TpSTp a: Tp = 9-tryptycyl; b: Tp = 2-chloro-9-triptycyl

SCHEME 187

6. CONCLUSION

It is hoped that this review of the thermal reactions of the compounds of tetra- and hexavalent sulfur will be of great interest to chemists who are developing new methods for the synthesis of organic compounds. Besides, the review may be useful for the technologists, and the manufacturers of monomers and polymers.

References

- [1] N. Grabowcky (1875). Lieb. Ann. Chem., 175, 348.
- [2] C. Walling and L. Bollyky (1964). J. Org. Chem., 29, 2699.
- [3] D.W. Emerson, A.P. Craig and J.W. Potts (1967). J. Org. Chem., 32, 102.
- [4] W.J. Ultee and R. Loun (1979). Phosph. and Sulfur, 6, 311.
- [5] D.L. Head and C.G. McCarty (1973). Tetrahedron Lett., 1404.
- [6] F.C. Thyrion and G. Debecker (1973). Int. J. Chem. Kinet., 5, 583.
- [7] E. Block, R.E. Penn, R.J. Olsen and P.F. Sherivin (1976). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 98, 1264.
- [8] F.C. Thyrion and F. Berka (1975). C. r. Acad. Sci., 280, 1485.
- [9] T.G. DiGluseppe, L.W. Hudgens and M.C. Lin (1982). J. Phys. Chem., 86, 36.
- [10] D.G. Barnard-Smith and J.F. Ford (1965). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun, 120.
- [11] J.R. Shelton and K.E. Devis (1967). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 89, 718.
- [12] F.A. Davis, S.G. Yocklovich and G.S. Baker (1978). Tetrahedron Lett., 97.
- [13] C. Chatgilialoglu, B.C. Gilbert, B. Gill and M.D. Sexton (1980). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II, 1141.
- [14] P. Koelewijn and H. Berger (1972). Rec. Traiv. Chim. Pays-Bas, 91, 1275.
- [15] D.H.R. Barton, F. Comer, D.G.T. Greig, P.G. Sammes, C.M. Cooper, G. Hewitt and W.G.E. Underwood (1971). J. Chem. Soc. C, 3540.
- [16] D.N. Jones and D.A. Lewton (1974). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun, 457.
- [17] R. Shelton and K.E. Davis (1973). Int. J. Sulfur Chem., 8, 197.
- [18] A. Marcioni and M. Secsi (1965). Boll. Sci. Fac. Chim. Industri Bologna, 23, 771.
- [19] Z. Stefans and A. Dljac (1967). Bull. Sci. Conseil Acad. Sci. et Arts RSFY, A-12, 307.
- [20] G.R. Newkome, J.M. Robinson and J.D. Sauer (1974). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun, 410.
- [21] N.K. Gusarova, B.A. Trofimov, G.G. Efremova and S.V. Amosova (1981). Zh. Org. Khim. 17, 2772.
- [22] B.A. Trofimov, N.K. Gusarova, G.G. Efremova and S.V. Amosova (1982). Zh. Org. Khim. 18, 450.
- [23] B.A. Trofimov, N.K. Gusarova, G.G. Efremova, S.V. Amosova, F.P. Kletsko, N.N. Vlasova and M.G. Voronkov (1980). Zh. Org. Khim. 16, 2538.
- [24] M.G. Voronkov, N.N. Vlasova, F.P. Kletsko, N.K. Gusarova, G.G. Efremova, M.V. Sigalov, V.V. Keiko, S.B. Leonov, S.V. Amosova and B.A. Trofimov (1981). Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. 1104.
- [25] M.G. Voronkov, E.N. Deryagina, E.N. Sukhomazova, N.K. Gusarova, G.G. Efremova and B.A. Trofimov (1983). Zh. Org. Khim, 19, 1221.
- [26] D.W. Emerson and T.J. Korniski (1969). J. Org. Chem., 34, 4115.
- [27] E. Sururimich, T. Yoshimura, H. Itakura and Ch. Shimasaki (1989). Phosph., Sulfur and Silicon, 46, 113.
- [28] T. Yoshimura, M. Yoshizawa and E. Tsukurimichi (1987). Bull. Chem. Soc. Japn, 60, 2491.
- [29] B.M. Trost and K.K. Leung (1975). Tetrahedron Lett., 4197.
- [30] M. Ochiai, Shin-ichi Tada, K. Sumi and E. Fujita (1982). J. Chem. Soc., Chem Commun., 281.
- [31] C.A. Kingsbury and D.J. Cram (1960). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 82, 1810.
- [32] H. Mizuno, M. Matsyda and M. Iino (1981). J. Org. Chem., 46, 520.
- [33] R. Tanikaja, H. Sugihara, K. Tanaka and A. Kahi (1977). Synthesis, 209.
- [34] S.J. Goldberg and J.E. Davis (1971). Synth. Commun., 1, 201.
- [35] Al de Groot, B.J.M. Jansen, J.T.A. Reuvers and E.M. Tedjo (1981). Tetrahedron Lett., 4137.
- [36] V. Reutrakul and P. Tamnusan (1979). Tetrahedron Lett., 617.
- [37] V. Reutrakul and K. Herunsalu (1983). Tetrahedron Lett., 527.
- [38] V. Reutrakul and V. Rukachaisisikul (1983). Tetrahedron Lett., 725.
- [39] F.A. Davis, T.W. Panunto, S.B. Awad, R.L. Billmers and T.G. Squires (1984). J. Org. Chem., 49, 1228.
- [40] V. Reutrakul, A. Tiensripojamaru, K. Kusamran and S. Nimgirawath (1979). Chem. Lett., 219.
- [41] J. Nokami, K. Nishiuchi, S. Wakabayashi and R. Okawara (1980). Tetrahedron Lett., 21, 4455.
- [42] P.A. Grieco and J.I. Reap (1974). Tetrahedron Lett., 1097.
- [43] W. Oppolser, K.K. Mahalanabis and K. Battig (1977). Helv. Chim. Acta, 60, 2388.
- [44] J. Fleming and D. Perry (1981). Tetrahedron Lett., 22, 5059.
- [45] J. Nokami, K. Ieta and R. Okawara (1978). Tetrahedron Lett., 4903.
- [46] T.J. Maricich, R.A. Jourdenais and C.K. Harrington (1973). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 2378.
- [47] E. Tsukurimichi, T. Yoshimura, R. Takanashi and Y. Washikava (1987). J. Anal. and Appl Pyrol., 12, 257.
- [48] G. De Luca, G. Renzi, R. Cipollini and A. Pizzabiocca (1980). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I, 1901.
- [49] M.O. Bachi and A. Gross (1982). J. Org. Chem., 47, 897.
- [50] J.P. Snyder (1974). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 5005.
- [51] W. Walter and O.H. Bauer (1976). Lieb. Ann., 1584.
- [52] L. Carlson, H. Egsgaard and E. Schaumann (1980). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II, 1206.
- [53] L. Carlson, H. Egsgaard, E. Schaumann and J. Ehlers (1979). Chem and Ind., 851.
- [54] L. Carlson, A. Holm, E. Koch and B. Stilkerieg (1977). Acta Chem. Skand., B31, 679.
- [55] H.-J. Niclas, D. Habisch and D. Martin (1979). Tetrahedron, 35, 2353.
- [56] R.M. Topping and N. Kharasch (1962). J. Org. Chem., 27, 4353.

- [57] S. Shyji (1968). Tetrahedron Lett., 4961.
- [58] S. Shyji (1969). Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn, 42, 667.
- [59] G.E. Hartzell and J.M. Paige (1966). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 88, 2616.
- [60] D.L. Lemal and P. Chao (1973). J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 95, 922.
- [61] W.G. Aalbersberg and K.P. Vollhardt (1981). Isr. J. Chem., 21, 145.
- [62] G.E. Hartzell and J.N. Paige (1967). J. Org. Chem., 32, 459.
- [63] J.E. Baldvin, G. Holfe and Se Chun Choi (1971). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 2810.
- [64] K. Kindo, M. Matsumoto and A. Negishi (1972). Tetrahedron Lett., 2131.
- [65] D.C. Dittmer, G.E. Kuhlmann and G.C. Levy (1970). J. Org. Chem., 35, 3676.
- [66] L.A. Carpino and H.W. Chen (1971). J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 785.
- [67] L. Carlson, H. Egsgaard and D.N. Harpp (1981). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 11, 1166.
- [68] T. Karagasa, H. Ohmura and S. Motoki (1980). Chem. Lett., 825.
- [69] H. Hogmann and H. Gaube (1979). Chem. Ber., 112, 761.
- [70] A.G. Anastassion, J.C. Wetzel and B.Y.-H. Chao (1975). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 97, 1124.
- [71] M.D.M. Pray, D.R. Russel, D.J.H. Smith, T. Durst and B. Gimbarzevsky (1981). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I, 1826.
- [72] T. Durst, J.D. Finlay and D.J.H. Smith (1979). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 952.
- [73] R.M.J. Liskamp, H.J. Blom, R.J.F. Novara and H.C.J. Ottenheijm (1983). J. Org Chem., 48, 2733.
- [74] S. Askari, S. Lee, R.R. Perkins and J.R. Scheffer (1985). Can. J. Chem., 63, 3526.
- [75] J. Barluenga, J.F. Lopes-Oetiz, M. Tomas and V. Gotor (1981). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I, 1891.
- [76] K. Kabayashi and K. Mutai (1981). Tetrahedron Lett., 22, 5201.
- [77] C.L. Gajurel, S.R. Vaidya and K.B. Sherestha (1979). Indian J. Chem., B18, 361.
- [78] J.M.A. Janssen and H. Kwart (1977). J. Org. Chem., 42, 1530.
- [79] M. Braeitonstein, R. Schulz and A. Schweig (1982). J. Org. Chem., 47, 1979.
- [80] J.B. Christensen and A. Holm (1997). Acta Chem. Scand., 51, 527.
- [81] F. Gibstein, E. Nellisch and O.J. Swietng (1964). J. Org. Chem., 29, 207.
- [82] W.K. Busfield and K.J. Ivin (1961). Trans. Faraday Soc., 57, 1044.
- [83] E.M. LaCombe and B. Stenard (1961). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 83, 3457.
- [84] I.B. Hendrickson and R. Bergeron (1973). Tetrahedron Lett., 3609.
- [85] E.C. Leonard (1962). J. Org. Chem., 27, 1921.
- [86] E.C. Leonard (1965). J. Org. Chem., 30, 3258.
- [87] E.C. Leonard (1966). US patent 3235516.
- [88] P.L. Wylie, K.S. Prowse and M.A. Bellil (1983). J. Org. Chem., 48, 4022.
- [89] J.I.G. Cardogan, J.B. Husband and H. McNab (1975). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II, 697.
- [90] B.E. Serven, M. Jones, Jr. and A.M. Van Leussen (1975). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 97, 4771.
- [91] S. Oae (1975). The Chemistry of Organic Compounds of Sulfur, 330. Ckimiya, Moskva.
- [92] T. Konakaharg, K. Gokan, M. Jwama and Y. Tagaki (1979). Heterocycles, 12, 373.
- [93] H. Drews, E.K. Fields and S. Meyerson (1961). Chem. and Ind., 1403.
- [94] W.Z. Heldt (1965). J. Org. Chem., 30, 3897.
- [95] M.A. Chugunov, E.N. Zil'berman, E.N. Mizinov, S.M. Danov, G.N. Afon'shin and I.V. Kotlyarski (1981). Zh. Obshch. Khim., 60, 905.
- [96] Hinsberg (1925). Ber., 58, 1335.
- [97] R.A. Abramovitch, W.D. Holcomb and S. Wake (1981). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 103, 1525.
- [98] G.P. Balabanov, Yu.I. Dergunov and V.G. Golov (1966). Zh. Phys. Khim., 40, 2171.
- [99] W.B. Renfrow, Mannoharran Devadoss (1975). J. Org. Chem., 40, 1525.
- [100] H.A. Staab and W. Rebafka (1971). Chem. Ber., 110, 3333.
- [101] Kojima Minoru, Minato Hiroshi and Kobayashi Michio (1972). Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 45, 2032.
- [102] M. Iino, T. Yanagisawa, Y. Takahashi and M. Matsuda (1976). Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 46, 2272.
- [103] H.S. Hertz, B. Coxon and A. Siedle (1977). J. Org. Chem., 42, 2508.
- [104] N.F. Aly, A.F.M. Fahmy and A. Shaket (1986). Orient J. Chem., 2, 114.
- [105] M.Z.A. Bard, M.M. Aly and A.M. Fahmy (1981). J. Org. Chem., 46, 4784.
- [106] W.J. Mijs, J.B. Relsink and U.E. Wiersum (1972). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 412.
- [107] R.T. Aller, R.B. Van Scott, Jr and E.L. Brockelbank (1966). J. Org. Chem., 31, 2357.
- [108] M. Kise, M. Murase, M. Kitano, T. Tomita and H. Murai (1976). Tetrahedron Lett., 691.
- [109] N.H. Fisher (1970). Synthesis, 393.
- [110] N.P. Neureiter and E.G. Bordwell (1963). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 85, 1209.
- [111] L.A. Paquette and L.S. Wittenbrook (1966). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 471.
- [112] L.A. Paquette, L.S. Wittenbrook and V.V. Kane (1967). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 89, 4487.
- [113] L.A. Caprino and R.H. Rynbrandt (1966). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 88, 5682.
- [114] G. Opitz and K. Fisher (1965). Angew. Chem., 77, 41.
- [115] L.N. Vargha and E. Kovacs (1942). Ber., 75, 794.
- [116] G.P. Hager and R.M. Burgison (1950). J. Am. Pharm. Assoc., 39, 7.
- [117] N. Tokura, T. Nagai and Sh. Matasumara (1966). J. Org. Chem., 31, 349.
- [118] J.F. King and T. Durst (1966). Can. J. Chem., 44, 819.

- [119] D.C. Ditmer, G.C. Levy and G.E. Kuhlmann (1969). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 91, 2097.
- [120] L.A. Carpino, McAdams, R.H. Rynbrandt and J.W. Spiwak (1971). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 476.
- [121] L.A. Carpino and McAdams (1965). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 87, 5804.
- [122] J.C. Philips and O. Morales (1977). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 713.
- [123] H. Qust and F. Keep (1981). Chem. Ber., 114, 774.
- [124] B.M. Trost, W.L. Schinski, F. Chen and J.B. Mantz (1971). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 5804.
- [125] J.F. King, P. DeMayo, C.L. McIntosh, K. Piers and J.H. Smith (1970). Can. J. Chem., 48, 3704.
- [126] C. Douglas and W. Tsang (1975). Int. J. Chem. Kinetik, 7, 799.
- [127] R. Kalish and W.H. Pirke (1967). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 89, 2781.
- [128] W.J. Middlton (1964). US Patent 3136781.
- [129] K. Rall and W. Sundermeyer (1990). J. Fluorine Chem., 47, 121.
- [130] T.A. Bezmenova, V.S. Gutyrya and N.M. Kalekin (1964). Urk. Khim. Zh., 30, 948.
- [131] R.A. Aitken, J.I.G. Cadogan, I. Gosney and S.F. Newlands (1994). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I, 2301.
- [132] Y. Gaoni (1981). J. Org. Chem., 46, 349.
- [133] J.I.G. Cadogan, I. Gosney, L.M. McLaughlin and B.J. Hamill (1980). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 1242.
- [134] E.J. Corey and E. Block (1969). J. Org. Chem., 34, 1233.
- [135] J. Tabushi, Y. Tamaru and Z. Yoshida (1976). Tetrahedron Lett., 3957.
- [136] Li-Fan Liao, Pen-Wen Tseng, Ching-Hsing Chon, Wen-Chin Chou and Jim-Min Fang (1995). *Heterocycles*, 41, 1967.
- [137] R.A. Aitken, D.P. Armstrong, R.H. Galt and S.T.E. Mesher (1997). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I, 2139.
- [138] R.A. Aitken and S.T.E. Mesher (1998). J. Chem. Res. Sypon, 76.
- [139] R.A. Aitken, J.I.G. Cadogan, I. Gosney, C.M. Humphries, L.M. McLaughlin and S.J. Wyse (1999). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I, 605.
- [140] R.A. Aitken, I. Gosney and J.I.G. Cadogan (1993). Prog. Heterocycl. Chem., 5, 1.
- [141] R.A. Aitken, J.I.G. Cadogan, I. Gosney, B.J. Hamill and L.M. McLaughlin (1982). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 1164.
- [142] J.I.G. Cadogan, C.M. Buchan, I. Gosney, B.J. Hamill and L.M. McLaughlin (1982). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 325.
- [143] C.M. Buchan, J.I.G. Cadogan, I. Gosney and W.J. Henry (1985). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 1785.
- [144] R.A. Aitken, J.I.G. Cadogan and I. Gosney (1994). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I, 1983.
- [145] Ta-shue Chou and Chin Ruei (1993). Heterocycles, 36, 2839.
- [146] W.L.Prins and R.M. Kellogg (1973). Tetrahedron Lett., 2833.
- [147] W.L. Mock (1966). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 88, 2781.
- [148] S.D. McGregor and P.M. Lemal (1966). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 88, 2858.
- [149] W.L. Mock (1975). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 97, 3666, 3673.
- [150] J.I.G. Cadogan, S. Cradock, S. Gillam and I. Gosney (1991). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 114.
- [151] Ta-shue Chou, Lee-Jui Hwang, Chung-Hsu Liu and Nein-Chen Chang (1989). Bull. Inst. Chem., Acad. Sin., 36, 17. CAN 112:157980.
- [152] Shang-Shing P. Chou, Chung-Ying Tsai and Chung-Ming Sun (1989). J. Chin. Chem. Soc. (Taipei), 36, 227. CAN 112:76837.
- [153] Yu-Tai Tao and Man-Li Chen (1988). J. Org. Chem., 53, 69.
- [154] Shang-Shing T. Chou and Der Jen Sun (1988). J. Chin. Chem. Soc. (Taipei), 35, 437.
- [155] S. Yamada, H. Suzuki, H. Naito, T. Nomoto and H. Takayama (1987). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 332.
- [156] Ta-shue Chou, Hsi-Hwa Tso and Lee-Jean Chang (1985). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 236.
- [157] D.A. Jaeger and J. Mang (1993). J. Org. Chem., 58, 6745.
- [158] R. Hoffmann, J. Mattay, A. Banning, U. Rodewald and M.M. Moeller (1994). J. Prakt Chem./Chem-Ztg., 336, 343.
- [159] J. Leonard, S.P. Fearnley and J.A. Knight (1994). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 2359.
- [160] J.S. Drage and K.P.C. Vollhard (1982). Organometallics, 1, 1545.
- [161] J.S. Drage and K.P.C. Vollhard (1985). Organometallics, 4, 389.
- [162] R. Bloch and J. Abecassis (1982). Tetrahedron Lett., 23, 3277.
- [163] R. Bloch and J. Abecassis (1983). Tetrahedron Lett., 24, 1247.
- [164] R. Bloch, D. Hassan and X. Mandard (1983). Tetrahedron Lett., 24, 4691.
- [165] R. Bloch, J. Abecassis and D. Hassan (1984). Can. J. Chem., 62, 2019.
- [166] R. Bloch and D. Hassan-Conzales (1986). Tetrahedron, 42, 4975.
- [167] Ta-Shue Chou, Hong-Chuan Chen, Woei-Chang Yang, Wan-Sheung Li, Ito Chao and Shwu-Jiuan Lee (2000). J. Org. Chem., 65, 5760.
- [168] Jing-Horng Liu, An-Tai Wu, Ming-Hwei Huang, Chen-Wei Wu and Wen Speng Chung (2000). J. Org. Chem., 65, 3395.
- [169] P.G. Balardi, H. El-Kashef, S. Manfredini, M.J. Pineda de las Infantas, R. Romagnoli and G. Spalluto (1998). Synthesis, 1331.
- [170] Ito Chao, Hsiu-Feng Lu and Ta-Shue Chou (1997). J. Org. Chem., 62, 7882.
- [171] A.C. Tome, P.M. O'Neill, R.C. Storr and J.A.S. Cavaleiro (1993). Synlett, 347.

- [172] A.C. Tome, J.A.S. Cavaleiro, A.S. Jose and R.C. Storr (1996). Tetrahedron, 52, 1723.
- [173] Ta-Shue Chou and Chung-Wen Ko (1994). Tetrahedron, 50, 10721.
- [174] J.P.C. Tome, A.C. Tome, M.G.P.M.S. Neves and J.A.S. Cavalerio (1997). Tetrahedron Lett., 38, 2753.
- [175] F. Effenberger and G. Grube (1998). Synthesis, 1372.
- [176] A.C. Tome, R.F. Enes, J.A.S. Cavalerio, L. Martarello and G. Kirsch (1997). Synlett., 1444.
- [177] Von B. Krautler, C.S. Craig and A. Rieder (2000). Helv. Chim. Acta, 83, 583.
- [178] K. Wojciechowski (1993). Synth. Commun., 23, 2415.
- [179] K. Wojciechowski (1993). Tetrahedron, 49, 7277.
- [180] K. Wojciechowski (1993). Tetrahedron, 49, 10017.
- [181] K. Wojciechowski (1997). Tetrahedron Lett., 38, 4667.
- [182] K. Wojciechowski (1996). Molecules, 1, 51.
- [183] K. Wojciechowski (1991). Synlett., 571.
- [184] S. Kosinski and K. Wojciechowski (1998). Pol. J. Chem., 72, 2546.
- [185] S. Kosinski and K. Wojciechowski (2000). Eur. J. Org. Chem., 1263.
- [186] W.J. Bailey and E.W. Cummins (1954). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 76, 1932, 1936.
- [187] M. Prochazka (1965). Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun., 30, 1158.
- [188] W. Davies and F.C. James (1954). J. Chem. Soc., 15.
- [189] W.J.W. Van Tielborg and R. Plomr (1977). Rec. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bac., 96, 282.
- [190] J.F.W. McOmie and B.K. Bullimore (1965). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 63.
- [191] M.S. Raasch (1980). J. Org Chem., 45, 856.
- [192] J. Nakayama, Y. Sugihara, K. Terada and E.L. Clennan (1996). Tetrahedron Lett., 31, 4473.
- [193] P. Cara and A.A. Deana (1959). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 81, 4266.
- [194] J.A. Oliver and P.A. Ongley (1965). Chem. Ind. (London), 1024.
- [195] T. Durst, M. Lancaster and D.J.H. Smith (1981). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin. Trans. I, 1846.
- [196] H. Klosterziel and H.J. Backer (1952). Rec. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas, 71, 1235.
- [197] W.J.M. Van Tilborg and R. Plomp (1977). J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun., 130.
- [198] F.G. Bordvell, W.H. McKellin and D.Babcock (1951). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 5566.
- [199] G.M. Brooke and R. King (1974). Tetrahedron Lett., 30, 857.
- [200] J. Mann, S.E. Piper and L.K.P. Yeung (1984). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I, 2081.
- [201] E.K. Filds and S. Meyerson (1966). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 88, 2836.
- [202] T.G. Sqwires, C.G. Venier, B.A. Hogson, L.W. Chang, F.A. Devis and T.W. Panuto (1981). J. Org. Chem., 46, 2373.
- [203] R.D. Chambers and J.A. Cunningham (1967). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 583.
- [204] J. Nakayama and Y. Sugihara (1999). Top. Curr. Chem., 205, 131.
- [205] H. Suhr and P. Henne (1977). Lieb. Ann. Chem., 1910.
- [206] M.P. Cava, R.L. Shirley and B.W. Ericson (1962). J. Org. Chem., 27, 755.
- [207] M.P. Cava, R.L. Shirley and B.W. Ericson (1960). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 82, 654.
- [208] M.P. Cava and J.A. Kuczkowski (1970). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 5800.
- [209] E. Giovanni and H. Vuilleumier (1977). Helv. Chim. Acta, 60, 1452.
- [210] N.J. Hales, D.J.H. Smith and M.E. Swindles (1976). J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun., 981.
- [211] E.J. Moriconi, R.E. Minser and T.E. Brady (1969). J. Org. Chem., 34, 1651.
- [212] G. Hesse and E. Reihold (1957). Chem. Ber., 90, 2101.
- [213] H. Quast and F. Kees (1981). Chem. Ber., 114, 787.
- [214] H.H. Inhoffen, R. Jonas, H. Krosche and U. Eder (1966). J. Lieb. Ann. Chem., 694, 19.
- [215] D.H.R. Barton and B.J. Willis (1972). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin. Trans. I, 305.
- [216] K.B. Becker and M.P. Labhart (1983). Helv. Chim. Acta, 66, 1090.
- [217] G. Pagani (1967). Gazzetta, 97, 1518.
- [218] D.J. Finlay, C.R. Hall and D.J. Smith (1977). Tetrahedron Lett., 33, 1149.
- [219] D.H. Hunter and J.B.Stothlers (1973). Can. J. Chem., 51, 2884.
- [220] J.F. Klein, J.C. Pommelet, J. Chuche, J. Elguero, P. Goya and M.A. Pillar (1993). Can. J. Chem., 71, 410.
- [221] W.L. Mock (1969). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 91, 5682.
- [222] F. Vögtle and L. Rossa (1977). Tetrahedron Lett., 33, 3577.
- [223] J. Grütze and F. Vögtle (1977). Chem. Ber., 110, 1978.
- [224] W. Bieber and F. Vögtle (1977). Angew. Chem., 89, 199.
- [225] L. Rossa and F. Vögtle (1977). J. Chem. Res. (S), 264.
- [226] F. Vögtle (1969). Chem. Ber., 102, 1443.
- [227] F. Vögtle (1969). Chem. Ber., 102, 3077.
- [228] S.A. Sherrod, R.L. la Costa, R.A. Barnes and V. Boekelheide (1974). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 1565.
- [229] V. Boekelheide and Ch.H. Tsai (1973). J. Org. Chem., 38, 3931.
- [230] N. Kannen, T. Umemoto, T. Otsubo and S. Misumi (1973). Tetrahedron Lett., 4537.
- [231] W. Rebafka and H.A. Staab (1973). Angew. Chem., 85, 831.
- [232] H.A. Staab and H. Haffner (1974). Tetrahedron Lett., 4397.
- [233] T. Umemoto, S. Satani, Y. Sakata and S. Misumi (1975). Tetrahedron Lett., 3159.
- [234] V. Boekelheide and P.H. Anderson (1973). J. Org. Chem., 38, 3928.

- [235] N. Kato, Y. Furuzawa and S. Ito (1979). Tetrahedron Lett., 1113.
- [236] V. Boekelheide, K. Galuszko and K.S. Szeto (1974). J. Am. Chem. Soc,. 96, 1578.
- [237] F. Vögtle (1969). J. Lieb. Ann. Chem., 728, 17.
- [238] H.A. Staab and M.W. Haenel (1973). Chem. Ber., 106, 2190.
- [239] F. Vögtle and G. Steinhagen (1978). Chem. Ber., 111, 205.
- [240] F. Vögtle (1969). Angew. Chem., 81, 258.
- [241] M.W. Haenel (1977). Tetrhaedron Lett., 33, 4191.
- [242] R.D. Gundermann and K.D. Röker (1976). Lieb. Ann. Chem., 140.
- [243] H.J.J.-B. Martell and M. Rasmussen (1971). Tetrahedron Lett., 3843.
- [244] M.W. Haenel (1978). Tetrahedron Lett., 34, 4007.
- [245] F. Vögtle and R. Mingen (1978). Tetrahedron Lett., 34, 1459.
- [246] F. Vögtle and E. Hammerschmidt (1978). Angew. Chem., 90, 293.
- [247] M. Nakazaki, K. Yamamoto and Y. Miura (1977). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 206.
- [248] V. Boekelheide and R.A. Hollins (1973). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 3201.
- [249] K. Böckmann and F. Vögtle (1981). Chem. Ber., 114, 1048.
- [250] F. Vögtle and J. Winkel (1979). Tetrahedron Lett., 35, 1561.
- [251] T. Yamamoto, A. Miyazava and M. Tashiro (1993). Chem. Ber., 126, 2505.
- [252] A. Ruland and H.A. Staab (1978). Chem. Ber., 111, 2997.
- [253] T. Otsubo and S. Misumi (1978). Synth. Commun., 285.
- [254] T. Otsubo, M. Kitasawa and S. Misumi (1977). Chem Lett., 8, 977.
- [255] F. Vögtle and L.Rossa (1977). J. Chem. Res. (M), 3010.
- [256] M.W. Haenel, A. Flatow, V. Taglieber and H.A. Staab (1977). Tetrahedron Lett., 33, 1733.
- [257] M.W. Haenel and A. Flatow (1979). Chem. Ber., 112, 249.
- [258] D.T. Zongone, S.H. Küsefoubi and J.A. Glachysz (1977). J. Org. Chem., 42, 2787.
- [259] T. Otsubo, T. Kohoda and S. Misumi (1978). Tetrahedron Lett., 34, 2507.
- [260] M. Altzmuller and F. Vögtle (1978). Chem. Ber., 111, 2547.
- [261] H.A. Staab and C.P. Herz (1977). Angew. Chem., 89, 839.
- [262] F. Vögtle, M. Altzmuller, W. Wehner and J. Grutze (1977). Angew. Chem., 89, 338.
- [263] F. Vögtle and P. Koo Tze Mew (1978). Angew. Chem., 90, 58.
- [264] S. Laufenberg, N. Feuerbacher, I. Pischel, O. Borsch, M. Nieger and F. Vogtle (1997). Liebigs Ann., 1901.
- [265] Fu-May Yang and Shaw-Tao Lin (1997). J. Org. Chem., 62, 2727.
- [266] S.W. Chow, L.A. Pilato and W.L. Wkeelwright (1970). J. Org. Chem., 35, 20.
- [267] G.P. Miller, I. Jeon, A.N. Faix, J.P. Jasinski, A.J. Athans and M.C. Tetreau (2000). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2, 1777.
- [268] C.S. Marvel and R.S. Johnson (1948). J. Org. Chem., 13, 822.
- [269] J.L. Kice, G. Guaralidi and C.G. Venier (1966). J. Org. Chem., 31, 3561.
- [270] J.L. Kice and K.W. Bowers (1962). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 84, 605.
- [271] J.L. Kice and K.W. Bowers (1963). J. Org. Chem., 28, 1162.
- [272] J.L. Kice and K.W. Bowers (1964). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 86, 4898.
- [273] F. Wellinsh, E. Gipstein and O.J. Orwille (1962). J. Org. Chem., 27, 1810.
- [274] A.S. Cope, D.E. Morrison and L. Field (1950). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 59.
- [275] A.H. Wragg and J.S. McFadyen (1958). J. Chem. Soc., 3603.
- [276] D. Darwish and E.A. Preston (1964). Tetrahedron Lett., 113.
- [277] D. Darwish and R. McLaren (1962). Tetrahedron Lett., 1231.
- [278] E.K. Filds and S. Meyerson (1977). J. Org. Chem., 42, 1691.
- [279] A.V. Grosse and J.C. Snyder (1951). Pat. US 2353576. Chem. Abstr. (1952), 46, 522f.
- [280] M. Melsons (1844). Lieb. Ann. Chem., 52, 277.
- [281] R. Franchimont (1888). Rec. Trav. Chim., 7, 25.
- [282] W. Koenigs and J. Hoerlin (1893). Ber., 26, 2047.
- [283] H.J. Backer (1925). Rec. Trav. Chim., 44, 1056.
- [284] G. Chuchani, R.M. Dominguez, A. Rotinov, I. Martin and J.G. Alvarez (1990). J. Phys. Chem., 94, 3341.
- [285] A. Germain, M. Qudrhiri, D. Brunel and A. Commeyras (1980). J. Fluor. Chem., 16, 627.
- [286] D. Brunel, A. Germain, P. Moreau, J. Burdon, P.L. Coe and R.G. Plevey (1989). J. Chem. Soc., Perkin. Trans. I, 2885.
- [287] P. Lepape (1970). Ann. Pharm. Fr., 28, 181.
- [288] S.S. Gal, T. Meisel, Z. Halmos and L. Erday (1966). Microchim. Acta, 903.
- [289] Fold (1927). Ber., 60, 656.
- [290] Patterson and McApline (1927). J. Chem. Soc., 349.
- [291] Kotani Ryotaro and Satoh Shiro (1965). J. Org. Chem., 30, 3245.
- [292] J. Blackwell and W.J. Hickinbotton (1961). Chem. and Ind., 39, 1569.
- [293] E.I. Corly, G.H. Posner, R.F. Atkinson, A.K. Wingard, D.J. Halloran, D.M. Radzik and J.J. Nash (1989). J. Org. Chem., 54, 389.
- [294] Nagai Toshikazu, Nishitomi Katsuhito and Tokura Niichiro (1966). Tetrahedron Lett., 2419.

- [295] N. Katsuhito, N. Toshikazu and T. Niichiro (1968). Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn, 41, 1388.
- [296] Th. Morel and P.E. Verkade (1948). Rec. Trav. Chim., 67, 539.
- [297] Th. Morel and P.E. Verkade (1951). Rec. Trav. Chim., 70, 35.
- [298] C.C. Price and G. Berti (1954). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 76, 1207.
- [299] G. Berti (1954). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 76, 1213.
- [300] C.C. Price and G. Berti (1954). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 76, 1211.
- [301] A.S. Matlack and D.S. Breslow (1957). J. Org. Chem., 22, 1723.
- [302] J.M. Coxon, M.P. Hartslorn, G.R. Little and S.G. Maister (1971). J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 271,
- [303] S. Wazonek and J.T. Loft (1959). J. Org. Chem., 24, 641.
- [304] E. Perrone, M. Alpegiani, A. Bedeschi, D. Borghi, F. Giudici and G. Franceschi (1986). J. Org. Chem., 51, 3413.
- [305] Yuso Kawada, Joji Ishikawa, Hiroshi Yamazaki, Gen Koga, Shigeru Murata and Hiizu Iwamura (1987). Tetrahedron Lett., 28, 445.